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ALLOCATING LONG-TERM CAPITAL – A NEW APPROACH
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ABOUT bcIMC
With $114.0 billion of managed gross assets, the British Columbia Investment Management Corporation (bcIMC) is
one of Canada’s largest institutional investors within the global capital markets. We offer our public sector clients
responsible investment options across a range of asset classes: fixed income; mortgages; public and private equity;
real estate; infrastructure; renewable resources; long-term strategic themes. Our investments provide the returns
that secure our clients’ future payments and obligations.
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AN EVOLVING ASSET MIX
FROM 1988 TO 2014

1991 T he effect of rising inflation on pension plans encourages
our clients to consider assets that offer inflation
protection. bcIMC is one of the first Canadian pension fund
managers to establish a REAL ESTATE program.

1990	After the first comprehensive
asset mix review, our clients
begin allocating assets to

CANADIAN AND U.S.
PUBLIC EQUITIES – a move

Our mandate is to create long-term client wealth
while protecting their funds from costly risks.
Returns are important – on average, $75 of every
$100 paid to a pension plan member is secured by
our investments. Generating returns begins with the
asset mix.

1995 M
 ORTGAGES are seen as an asset class that offers
more attractive returns than bonds and presents the
opportunity to deploy significant amounts of capital within
a long-term portfolio. bcIMC launches our commercial
mortgage program to enhance and stabilize our clients’
overall investment returns.

driven by growing uncertainty
that a bond-dominated
portfolio will not generate
the returns clients require.

Our clients determine the mix that reflects their
financial needs, tolerance for risk, and market
trends. As investment goals and time horizons
change, so do asset allocations.
bcIMC has assisted our clients move from a basic mix
to the diversified allocations of today. This evolution
is driven by our clients’ changing characteristics
and an increasing awareness of a plan’s long-term
funding requirements.
66.2%
BONDS

Regulatory changes, the move to joint trusteeship in
2000, and dynamic markets have also played a role.
For example, in 1991 the Income Tax Act allowed
plans to increase foreign holdings. And the end
of the foreign property rule in 2005 removed the
restrictions on the amount of foreign property held
by pension funds. Increasing financial awareness
and a broadening of investment opportunities are
among the many drivers contributing to our clients’
evolving asset mixes.
1

2

33.8%
MONEY MARKET
AND SHORT
TERM BONDS

R eflects net assets of bcIMC's pension plan clients and WorkSafe BC
Accident Fund as of March 31 each year
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1988

1989

1990

1991

1992

1993

1994

1995

1996

1997

1998

1999

2009	Newly emerged economies gain momentum and become more influential in
global production, trade, and finance. Our clients adopt a single GLOBAL EQUITY
ALLOCATION and consolidate their regionally-based equity mix. Clients can more easily
invest in quality companies and sectors without the limitations of geographic borders.

1995 b cIMC introduces privately-financed investments to reduce our clients’ exposure to
volatility in public markets. PRIVATE EQUITY allows for the investing of patient and
engaged capital in companies with high growth potential.
2005 I NFRASTRUCTURE, a long-term real asset, provides reliable cash flows, appreciates
in value, and protects against inflation and short-term volatility in public markets. Our
clients recognize that unlike listed equity and debt, cash flows from infrastructure
investments align closely with pension plan liabilities.

2010	Clients increase their allocation to
as they continue to seek
long-term capital appreciation while protecting against inflation and public market
volatility. To support our clients’ real asset focus, bcIMC begins reallocating funds from
fixed income to real estate, infrastructure and renewable resources.

1.2% RENEWABLE RESOURCES 1
6.3% EMERGING MARKETS
4.9% INFRASTRUCTURE 1
5.1% PRIVATE EQUITY
2.8% MORTGAGES
15.5% REAL ESTATE 1

30.7% GLOBAL EQUITY
		 U.S. EQUITY
		NON-NORTH AMERICAN
EQUITY

13.1% CANADIAN EQUITY

15.3% BONDS
5.1%	MONEY MARKET
AND SHORT-TERM BONDS
2000

2001

2002

2003

2004

2005

2006

2007

2008

2009

2010

2011

2012

2013

2014

1

21.6%
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LOOKING BACK ON
CAPITAL MARKETS

BABY BOOM
ERA
1954 – 1972

OIL CRISIS
AND RISING

INFLATION
1973 – 1979

Looking back on capital market trends, we can
see shifts in financial and economic regimes, from
booms – high growth and inflation – to busts –
With rising productivity, annual

The gold standard ends.

real GDP growth for the U.S.

An OPEC oil embargo occurs;

averages 3.7 per cent. The Dow

prices quadruple to U.S.$12 per

Jones Industrials index rises 260

barrel. Equity markets crash in

per cent. Stocks are typically

1973–1974. Inflation hits 13.3 per

held for more than five years.

cent by 1979. Canada 10-year+

suggest. To give us the best opportunity to capture

Canada 10-year+ government

government bond yield exceeds

value for our clients, we need to allocate capital in

bond yield briefly rises about

11.0 per cent by the end of the

a new way.

8.0 per cent. Inflation peaks

decade. Interest rates are at

at 6.2 per cent.

unsustainable levels.

bubbles and a global crisis.
The dynamic nature of capital markets influences
the global flow of capital and investor activity.
This means that we must continually challenge
conventional views on long-term expected returns
and question the asset allocations that they

By developing views for specific regimes based on
measurable risks and less-quantifiable economic
and political risks, we can define probable
outcomes and scenarios. We believe that this
allows asset allocation decisions to be better
aligned with client needs.
By analyzing complex global risks and incorporating
possible economic and market scenarios, a forwardlooking asset allocation methodology will be more
in tune with the true nature of capital markets.

GRAPH:
CANADA 10-YEAR+ GOVERNMENT BOND YIELD
S&P 500 INDEX
	
4
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FIGHTING
INFLATION

BUBBLE BURST

1980 – 1994

1995 – 2002

BOOM AND DOTCOM

FINANCIAL

FINANCIAL CRISIS

AND GRADUAL

ENGINEERING
AND HOUSING BOOM

RECOVERY

2003 – 2007

2008 – 2014

In fighting inflation, the U.S. Federal Reserve
rate for federal funds reaches 19.0 per cent in
mid-1981. This drives the U.S. into a recession;
global economies are also affected. By 1994 yields
on 10-year bonds drop to below 6.0 per cent and
inflation is under 3.0 per cent.
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Technology

Emerging markets

Complexity undermines

companies experience

start playing a larger

market stability,

rapid growth. The Nasdaq

role in global growth.

as lenders underestimate

peaks at 5,049 in 2000 and loses

Record low interest rates,

the risks underwritten.

78.0 per cent in value by 2002.

financial engineering,

By March 2009 the Dow

Interest rates continue to

and lax regulation lead

Jones Industrial Average index

drift downwards as

to excessive lending. U.S.

loses 56.0 per cent in value

inflation falls to

housing prices surge.

from its peak in late 2007.

1.1 per cent.

Investor confidence drops;

A global financial crisis

conditions tighten and

unravels into a deep

liquidity ceases

recession and a

by 2007.

drawn-out recovery.
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bcIMC’S STRATEGIC
ASSET ALLOCATION
INITIATIVE

An example of a
traditional asset allocation model

WHAT IS ASSET ALLOCATION?
Efficient
Frontier

Asset allocation is the practice of assigning capital
to different asset categories. An investor may choose
to allocate their funds to assets such as cash, fixed
income, mortgages, and stocks, as well as real
estate, private equity, or infrastructure.

To assist in making this decision, investors have
traditionally used approaches such as the Modern
Portfolio Theory and the Capital Asset Pricing
Model to determine the allocation of assets. These
approaches use statistical models that focus on
volatility as the only measure of risk and rely on
historical data for correlations.
Our world is becoming increasingly interdependent
– the pace of change, the interconnectivity, and the
diversity of linkages is creating a complex global
system. As a long-term investor, we are faced with
risks that extend beyond volatility.

6

B
EXPECTED RETURN

As each asset class has different characteristics,
an investor’s investment goals, time horizon and
tolerance for risk will influence their decision.
Investors may consider the role each asset will play in
their portfolio, such as growth, cash flow or stability.
The allocation of capital is a primary decision in
determining returns for an investment portfolio.

C

A

Efficient
Portfolio

D
Efficient
Portfolio

EXPECTED RISK (STANDARD DEVIATION)

bcIMC ANNUAL REPORT 2013–2014

Efficient
Portfolio

Inefficient
Portfolios take
too much risk
or receive too
little return

STRATEGIC ASSET
ALLOCATION

GLOBAL
TRENDS

• Demographics
• New Economic Drivers / Global Leaders
• Capital Market Transition and Reform
• Technology / Connectivity
• Climate Change

• Economic Scenarios
• Market Scenarios

RISK
FACTORS

FPO

WHY DO WE BELIEVE ASSET ALLOCATION SHOULD
BE MORE FORWARD-LOOKING?

WHAT ARE WE DOING?

Forecasting portfolio returns has always been
challenging. In today’s investment environment,
risks are global in nature and public markets are
highly correlated. Establishing a diversified portfolio
is a complex process. Adding to the challenge, the
assumptions once applied to asset allocation models
before the financial crisis may no longer hold true.

D e ve l o p i n g a n al t e r na t i ve m e t h o d o l o g y f o r
strategically allocating funds is a key initiative. This
collaborative effort involves the Sauder School of
Business (University of British Columbia) and is driven
by our Consulting & Client Services and Research &
Risk Measurement departments.

We believe that traditional approaches that use volatility
as the key measure of risk do not provide enough
information to make an asset allocation decision. Without
a broader and more qualitative framework to measure
a wide range of economic, political and market risks,
opportunities to capture long-term value may be missed.
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CAPITAL
MARKET
REGIMES

Our development process involves reviewing risk
frameworks and asset allocation methodologies used
by academics, research institutions, and other investors.
We are enhancing the way we define, measure and
monitor the various long-term risks that may affect our
portfolios. Our improved approach will be qualitative
yet disciplined. It involves developing views on the
various risk factors that influence the performance of
each asset class within our clients’ asset mixes.

WHAT DOES THIS

MEAN FOR OUR CLIENTS?
We aim to enhance the strategic investment advice we
provide by developing different scenarios for clients to
consider. This will enable clients to base their asset mix
decisions on a more holistic view of risk and return.
Our methodology will provide deeper insight into the
characteristics of different asset classes. This will allow our
clients to better understand the expected performance of
their funds across different economic regimes, and their
portfolio’s sensitivity to diverse risks.
By being forward-looking in the way we assess global
economic regimes and analyze qualitative risks,
we will enhance our advice to clients on their asset
allocation decisions.
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2013–2014 AT A GLANCE
Announced the intention to open our first foreign office in London, U.K. in 2015.
This will enhance our global reach for private equity and real asset opportunities
and provide greater access into one of the world’s principal business locations.

CEO/CIO Doug Pearce
announced his retirement
after a 35-year career,
of which 26 involved managing
the funds of British Columbia’s
public sector pension plans
and other clients. Under Doug’s
leadership, assets under
management have grown from

$9.5 billion
to $114.0 billion

ASSETS UNDER MANAGEMENT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2014

% (GROSS)

% (NET)

GLOBAL EQUITIES

33.2

29.1

30.0

REAL ESTATE

19.8

17.4

14.7

FIXED INCOME

18.1

15.9

16.4

CANADIAN EQUITIES

14.3

12.6

13.0

EMERGING MARKETS EQUITIES

6.7

5.8

6.0

INFRASTRUCTURE & RENEWABLE RESOURCES

6.4

5.6

5.8

SHORT-TERM SECURITIES 1

6.3

5.5

5.7

PRIVATE PLACEMENTS

5.4

4.8

4.9

MORTGAGES

3.0

2.6

2.7

OTHER STRATEGIES - ALL WEATHER

0.7

0.6

0.7

CURRENCY HEDGING
GROSS ASSETS
LIABILITIES (Real Estate Mortgages and Debt)
NET ASSETS UNDER MANAGEMENT
1

8

$ BILLION

0.1

0.1

0.1

114.0

100

100

3.5
110.4

T he total value of short-term securities does not reflect the money market securities held by the pooled
funds of all other asset classes, which amounted to $1.4 billion as of March 31, 2014
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Completed eight real estate development
projects in Canadian cities ranging from
Calgary to Regina to St. John’s. With investments
of almost $200 million, developments include
offices, industrial facilities, and hospitality.

Acquired a five per cent equity interest in Compania Logistica de Hidrocarburos,
S.A. (CLH). With 39 storage facilities and a pipeline network exceeding 4,000 km, CLH is
Spain’s largest provider of refined oil logistics, transportation, and storage services.

$114,000,000,000
RETURNED 14.7% AGAINST A

ONE-YEAR COMBINED BENCHMARK OF 12.5%

$1.7 BILLION IN ADDED VALUE

TO BRITISH COLUMBIA PUBLIC SECTOR PENSION PLANS

INCREASED OUR MANAGED GROSS ASSETS BY

$11.2 BILLION
COMMITTED

$2.5 BILLION TO REAL ASSETS

INFRASTRUCTURE, RENEWABLE RESOURCES, AND REAL ESTATE

As a Qualified Foreign Institutional Investor, bcIMC fully invested
our first China A-Share quota of $100 million in companies based
in mainland China that trade on stock exchanges such as Shenzhen and Shanghai.
We were also successful in our application for an additional quota of $200 million.

bcIMC ANNUAL REPORT 2013–2014

8

NEW POSITIONS ADDED
TO THE bcIMC TEAM
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MESSAGE FROM THE CHAIR

Over 80 per cent of the funds bcIMC manages are for pension plans. These represent
the retirement benefits of more than 522,000 individuals, whether collected today or
30 years from now. On average, $75 of every $100 a pension plan member receives
in retirement benefits comes from bcIMC’s investment activities. The chief executive
officer / chief investment officer and his team play a significant role in ensuring
ongoing retirement security.
Doug Pearce has set the standard for bcIMC’s most senior executive position. Under
his strong and strategic leadership over a 26-year period, our clients have seen
assets grow from $9.5 billion to $114.0 billion. Doug has also transformed bcIMC’s
investment focus from being a holder of Canadian bonds and stocks to becoming
a major investor in infrastructure, renewable resources, and mortgages, as well as
an active developer of real estate. During the many challenging times and events
within the capital markets over the years, Doug has consistently reinforced the value
of looking beyond the day-to-day and keeping one’s focus on the longer term. The
Board is extremely appreciative of Doug’s leadership and contribution and wishes
him success and good health in the future.
By the time you read this, we will have announced the appointment of Gordon J. Fyfe
as Doug’s successor. We are delighted to have Gordon join our team as his experience
is crucial as bcIMC seeks to expand our global reach. Gordon’s philosophy of
developing partnerships in various countries around the world has proven effective in
identifying investment opportunities. We have every confidence that he will continue
to deliver the superior returns that play a fundamental role in ensuring the financial
viability of the pension plans of British Columbia’s public sector. And under Gordon’s

10
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leadership, our investment professionals will continue to use responsible investing as
a means to protect and grow the financial value of the companies in which bcIMC
is invested.
Retirement financing is an essential component of the capital markets. Pension plans
provide valuable capital that is invested with a long-term outlook, and this has a
broad impact on the economy. With $114.0 billion of assets under management,
bcIMC is a major player within the Canadian investment environment and an
important partner for our clients.
bcIMC is the fourth largest pension fund manager in Canada with $60.7 billion
invested in companies and assets across the country. We are also one of Canada’s
largest property owners – our holdings include 26 developments underway and
more than 500 completed buildings. Furthermore, bcIMC is a major lender to
Canada’s commercial real estate industry, having committed more than $4.1 billion
in mortgage loans since 1995. Long-term investments in privately held companies
such as TimberWest Forest Corp., InTransitBC, Delta Hotels & Resorts, Silverbirch
Hotels & Resorts, and Parkbridge Lifestyle Communities not only provide stable cash
flows for our clients, but also make a meaningful contribution to local economies.
And as an influential investor committed to responsible investing, companies and
like-minded investors regularly interact with our investment professionals on risks
and opportunities. Over the course of this year directors and executive management
from more than 120 companies listed on the Toronto Stock Exchange visited our
Victoria office.
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During the year, we were pleased to welcome Dominique Roelants to the bcIMC
Board of Directors, replacing John Wilson. Dominique was appointed by the
Board of Trustees for the College Pension Plan and brings a deep understanding
of information technology – an important aspect of investment management.
The Board acknowledges and thanks John for his eight-year contribution to the
governance of bcIMC.
In closing, the Board especially thanks all of bcIMC’s talented professionals for
delivering a 14.7 per cent combined pension plan return and generating $1.7 billion in
added value. Their skills and expertise play a fundamental role in growing our clients'
long-term wealth within an increasingly complex global environment. We also thank
our clients for their continued support and I thank my fellow Board members for their
commitment throughout the year.

Rick Mahler
Chair of the bcIMC Board of Directors
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REPORT FROM THE CEO/CIO

After 26 years at the helm of bcIMC and its predecessor organizations,
this will be my last report. I am very proud of the organization and its
accomplishments over this timeframe. When I took over this position we
had just under $10.0 billion in assets under management. Our investments
then were in Canadian government bonds and money market instruments.
Today our gross assets are $114.0 billion invested globally in 46 countries,
and the organization has grown to 199 professionals.

12
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LOOKING BACK Over my working career (starting in 1979) in British Columbia,
I experienced the inflation period of the early 1980s and the subsequent high
interest-rate environment; the bubbles in real estate in the early 1990s; the currency
crisis in Asia in the late 1990s; and the technology bubbles of the early 2000s
followed by a tremendous lapse of board governance that failed to detect fraud
and mismanagement during that period. In 2006–2007, another bubble was very
evident and that was the housing / mortgage-backed securities debacle. The system
had far too much leverage and the interconnected banking system came very close
to collapsing in 2008. What the overseers were blind to is blatantly obvious now: a
system where greed and fear were at an imbalance caused by a host of inappropriate
capital market activities, the interconnectivity of globalization, and weak regulations
and oversight. We realized it was a new world.
Traditional practices, inherent beliefs, and capital market theories needed to be reexamined. Diversification needed to be redefined. Risk was not just volatility in a
global investment environment. Currency, politics, regulatory, and governance risks
were among many risks we now needed to understand and factor into our asset
allocation. Our business of investing pension savings was now very complex and
becoming more so.
We as an industry have much more to do in understanding this new environment
and developing more thoughtful approaches and tools to properly carry out our
fiduciary duties.
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We also need to educate policymakers of the importance of long-term pension
capital to the Canadian economy. As you can see in this report, bcIMC is a company
builder, an infrastructure provider, and an innovator of new buildings that we all live
and work in. Through our portfolio, we have earned a great return for our clients
and at the same time invested in companies that have created many thousands of
jobs and developed products that are sold globally.
This report is also the last of a trilogy. In 2011–2012 we were very much in a
crisis mode: European sovereign debt and the banking system were in crisis.
The indebtedness of the developed world was growing at an unsustainable rate.
We had political change in major economies (France, Italy, and Japan) and high
unemployment, particularly in the youth of Europe. This interconnected world
presented new risks.
bcIMC spent much time trying to noodle through and understand this new reality
of complexity, interconnectivity, and the implications to the capital market as
we understood them. We realized that the bases of our industry (investment
management) had changed, and that the Modern Portfolio Theory, asset pricing,
and optimization were no longer as relevant or useful. The academic world provided
little guidance to global investment allocation of capital. From Complexity to
Opportunity, our 2011–2012 annual report, reflected this feeling of dismay and
realization that we had a problem to solve.
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In 2012–2013 we began to understand what we needed to do. We developed a
much greater research capability, moved away from low-returning fixed income
assets and into more global equity and real assets – real estate, infrastructure,
and renewable assets. bcIMC also spent less time trying to model the world in a
quantitative framework and realized that thoughtful, qualitative analysis would be
more helpful to our clients. We launched more internally managed active equity
pools utilizing our new team of fundamental analysts. This feeling of finding our
footing and new strength as an organization was the theme of our 2012–2013
annual report, The Tenets of the Capital Markets Have Fundamentally Changed.
This third part of the trilogy, Allocating Long-Term Capital – A New Approach,
addresses our way forward. Given the complexity and the changing markets,
bcIMC is developing a practical methodology for strategically allocating our
clients’ funds. This involves reflecting on the conventional beliefs, tenets,
and approaches.
Reflecting back over my career, we have enjoyed a tremendous tailwind of declining
interest rates. The annualized return of Canadian fixed income has been 8.75 per
cent. That tailwind of 30 years might now become a headwind in meeting our
clients’ actuarial return requirements.
Five years ago we began asking ourselves what will be the big global trends that will
shape the future. We identified five global trends which were undeniably sustainable
and that would have a high impact on the capital markets.

14
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These are:
Demographics

• 9.0 billion people by 2050
•	
a growing middle class in the developing world that is seeking the
luxuries of the mature nations

New Economic
Drivers / Global
Leaders

•	
this will create a new world order of wealth, trade, and political power

Capital Market
Transition and
Reform

•	
new pools of capital and wealth (sovereign wealth funds and the
ultra rich of the 1 per cent)

Technology /
Connectivity

•	
there are many good things that technology will create or allow
us to do, but it will have the potential to be very disruptive to
existing business models

Climate Change

•	
manmade global warming causing global ice-melting, rising seas,
and more intense storms

•	
the old economies will struggle with lower growth and
higher unemployment

•	
new reforms were needed coming out of the Great Financial Crisis

•	
this will have a high social, environmental, and economic impact on
mankind with more loss than gain

Out of these global trends we have analyzed the effect and are now focused on
investment themes such as food, resources (including water), global healthcare, and
consumer consumption, to name a few. It is our hope that these areas will provide
the tailwinds of the future and that we can achieve our clients’ return objectives.

CUMULATIVE VALUE ADDED BY bcIMC ($ billion)
Total pension portfolio return minus benchmark return for the periods ended March 31, 2014

bcIMC ANNUALIZED PENSION RETURNS
Returns for the periods ended March 31, 2014 1

14.7%
11.4%
8.1%
7.8%

20 YEAR
1

7.0%

7.5%

6.4%

6.7%

15 YEAR

10 YEAR

12.5%

$5.6

$6.0

$6.0
$4.8

BENCHMARK

10.1%

$1.7

5 YEAR

20 YEAR

1 YEAR

15 YEAR

10 YEAR

5 YEAR

1 YEAR

Balanced portfolio returns are shown net of fees
Cumulative Value Added by bcIMC

YEAR IN REVIEW Turning to this last year, we have had a very good year on all fronts. Arguably it was the best year of my career.
($ billion) Total pension portfolio return minus benchmark return for the periods ended March 31, 2013

•	The combined pension return exceeded the clients’ benchmark by 2.2 per cent,
representing over $1.7 billion in value added to our pension clients. For the
one-year period ending March 31, 2014, we returned 14.7 per cent against a
combined market benchmark of 12.5 per cent.

•	Feedback on our client service indicates that we meet or exceed our clients’
expectations. This part of our business is most important in attaining and
retaining the trust of our clients.

•	Risk management was strong on all fronts. We obtained unqualified audit
opinions on our corporate and pooled fund financial statements and the Service
Organization Controls Report, prepared in line with CSAE 3416 standards.

•	During the past fiscal year, we continued to modernize the backbone of
bcIMC’s information technology systems. We made significant improvements
to the sof t ware application and also star ted our enterprise data
management project.

•	We have been more effective in carrying out our responsible investing objectives –
environmental, social, and governance – and presenting our view as a global leader.

•	Our people are focused on and continue to work towards meeting our clients’ goals
– a quality and commitment that I am especially proud of within the bcIMC team.
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REPORT FROM THE CEO/CIO

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS Finally, I would like to thank a large number
of people who have supported me and bcIMC, not just for this year but
throughout my career.
The most important “thanks” goes to all of bcIMC’s clients and the trustees or
representatives of governing fiduciaries. I have enjoyed the tremendous support
of the clients and more than once lost a lot of sleep carrying out the responsibility
entrusted to me during times of market corrections or crisis. I think the British
Columbia model of pension fund management is a beacon for other jurisdictions.
Together under this model the economies of scale are shared proportionately.
I have been blessed to be in a dynamic and important industry and in a position to
meet a number of interesting and helpful people – “characters” in the most positive
light. Four stand out as being mentors to me and the growth of bcIMC: Robert
(Bob) Doran, chair (retired) of Wellington Management; the late Robert (Bob)
Hager, founder of Phillips Hager & North Investment Management Ltd.; the late
Milton Wong of M.K. Wong & Associates; Chris Trumpy, the first chair of bcIMC’s
Board of Directors. Each of these gentlemen gave me the time and ear, their sage
observations and advice; thank you!
At $114.0 billion in gross assets under management, bcIMC can participate fully in the
global capital market. If we were smaller, we could not. Clients have understood this
and have supported me and my colleagues in carrying out our mandate; thank you!
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I would like to thank the many boards that I have reported to at bcIMC over the
years. I have appreciated your advice and guidance in creating and building this
well-respected firm. Being in Victoria, there were no other peer groups or capital
market participants to compare strategic notes with. On many occasions the bcIMC
Board encouraged us to develop our own solutions and independent thinking. This
has been very beneficial in avoiding risks to our clients and in helping us to be
innovative; thank you!
My colleagues have been wonderful, inspiring, and very professional throughout my
career. The senior vice presidents of bcIMC are second to none in North America.
In many areas of our business they are viewed as national leaders; I so encourage
this leadership. Whether it is asset management, responsible investing (ESG), or risk
mitigation, bcIMC has been a leader. Thank you!
Thank you to my trusted assistant Maria: you are the best!
I am proud of my time in the BC Public Service and hope that bcIMC continues to
exceed our clients’ expectations. I’ll be watching!

Doug Pearce
Chief Executive Officer / Chief Investment Officer
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bcIMC IN BRIEF

$114.0 BILLION

OF MANAGED GROSS ASSETS

4

TH LARGEST

PENSION FUND MANAGER
IN CANADA

35

INSTITUTIONAL
CLIENTS

23.0%
73.9%

REAL
ASSETS 1

OF ASSETS CO-MANAGED AND
MANAGED IN-HOUSE 2

bcIMC is a leading provider of investment management services to British Columbia’s public sector. Established
under the Public Sector Pension Plans Act, we offer investment products across a wide range of asset classes,
including strategic investment themes.
We are responsible for generating the investment returns that help our institutional clients build a financially
secure future. Returns are important – for every $100 a pension plan member receives in retirement benefits, on
average $75 is provided by bcIMC’s investment activity. We focus on generating long-term client wealth while
protecting the value of the funds.
OUR CLIENTS bcIMC exists because of our clients – they have voluntarily entrusted us with managing their
funds. Our job is to generate long-term wealth on their behalf, while also protecting the value of their funds – all
within a complex and dynamic global environment. bcIMC has long-standing relationships with all of our clients
who have entrusted us with their funds.
Public sector pension plans are our largest client group, making up 82.7 per cent of the assets. Our activities help
secure the pensions of more than 522,000 plan members. Clients establish the investment framework and set the
performance targets for their pension fund. They determine the asset allocation framework and the diversification of
the portfolio. Some plans take greater market and liquidity risk to enhance long-term returns.
Government bodies account for 13.4 per cent 2 of our assets. We help finance the insurance and benefit funds for
over 2.2 million workers in British Columbia. Publicly administered trust funds total 2.5 per cent 2 of our assets.
Some clients prioritize capital protection, while others look for liquidity and short-term performance. Sinking and
government operating funds represent 1.4 per cent 2 of our managed assets.
We invest in line with our clients’ investment frameworks and policies, as well as applicable legislation and
regulations. bcIMC is accountable to clients for both fund performance and management fees. We operate on a
cost-recovery model. bcIMC’s costs are not subsidized by the Province of British Columbia.

1
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Real assets are defined as Infrastructure, Real Estate and
Renewable Resources. Percentages based on total managed
gross assets.
2
Calculated on a net asset basis
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With a strong Canadian foundation, bcIMC’s global presence extends to the United States,
Europe, Asia, Australia, South America, and many emerging markets

OUR INVESTMENT DISCIPLINE We are legally and contractually required to invest
our clients’ funds in their best financial interest – that is our fiduciary responsibility.
We follow a strategic discipline of investing long-term, patient capital. Our approach is
prudent. We make limited use of leverage, use derivatives primarily for risk reduction
and cash management purposes, and do not short sell equities. Maintaining our
discipline while focusing on due diligence and diversification allows us to manage
market risks. bcIMC invests in assets that provide reliable cash flows over the
long-term. Our strategies range from indexing to active asset management.
bcIMC brings more than capital to our investments. Our clients share our belief
that responsible investing allows us to manage material environmental, social, and
governance risks and improve long-term returns. We expect our portfolio companies
to create long-term value and focus on stewardship.
As skills matter, we select the best-in-class investment managers and business partners.

OUR VISION
We will be the responsible

fund manager

of choice for the British Columbia public sector, at the
exceeding
the performance and service expectations
of our clients
forefront of the industry and consistently
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OUR INVESTMENT FUNDS Our product line of 67 operating pooled funds is
diversified by asset class, region, and style. Like a mutual fund, the pooled fund
structure combines our clients’ contributions and is then invested in securities and other
assets. This structure provides economies of scale, allowing clients to obtain a more
diversified portfolio at a lower cost than investing individually. bcIMC holds all assets
in trust; clients do not own the individual assets within bcIMC’s investment portfolios.
Investing is an intrinsically dynamic activity. As capital markets evolve, we adapt our
product line to ensure clients benefit from new investment opportunities. This year we
wound down the Enhanced Indexed European Equity Fund. bcIMC’s Board approved
the investment policy for a new fund, the All Weather Fund, in 2013–2014. It holds a
mix of global assets that balance the exposure to risk across fundamental economic
environments. This externally managed fund is expected to generate higher long-term
risk-adjusted returns despite economic conditions. The fund has a nominal benchmark
of 6.5 per cent in Canadian dollar terms.

OUR MISSION
We are accountable to our clients to provide
professional fund management for all asset classes,
exercising the highest standards of prudence and
fiduciary responsibility. We deliver to our clients the

highest return for a given level of risk, at a
reasonable cost, while recognizing our responsibility
to the broader society through our governance,
social and environmental related activities

OUR VALUES

RESPECT: We treat others with
courtesy, professionalism and dignity
INTEGRITY: We act fairly and ethically
in all our dealings

HONESTY: We are sincere and candid
in our accountability to clients and other stakeholders
TRUST: We earn client confidence by acting with
prudence, diligence and transparency
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INVESTING LONG-TERM CAPITAL
As pensions are long-term, managing pension funds requires enduring strategies that ensure
returns are sustainable over a long period of time

Many investments are held for more than 30 years, which allows the
company’s management to align their interests with our long-term
perspective. Companies can then focus on the future rather than being
driven by the expectations of quarterly earnings. In so doing, companies can
counter the growing market trend of short-term thinking and:
• establish better governance and management practices that help
maintain their license to operate

TOTAL NET
PORTFOLIO VALUE
($ BILLION)

INVESTMENT $

PUBLIC EQUITIES
FIXED INCOME

DIVIDENDS

REAL ESTATE

$54.3

EconomyMARKET VALUE OF

MARKET VALUE OF
CANADIAN INVESTMENTS
($ BILLION)

Company

$15.4

CANADIAN INVESTMENTS
(%)

Operations

28.3%

$25.1

$24.3

96.8%

$16.3

$15.2

93.3%

$0.7

12.9%

$1.2

23.0%

PRIVATE PLACEMENTS

$5.4

INFRASTRUCTURE

$5.1

MORTGAGES

$2.9

$2.9

Goods
& Services

Our investment approach seeks to ensure that returns are sustainable over a
longer period of time. This requires a deep understanding of the business, its
capital requirements, and related opportunities and risks.

RETURNS FOR
bcIMC'S
INVESTMENTS IN CANADA BY ASSET CLASS AS AT MARCH 31, 2014
CLIENTS

Tax
Revenues

Returns secure the future payments of our pension plan clients. Given
these long-term obligations, we invest patient capital in assets with strong
earnings potential.

100.0%

Jobs

(Direct & Indirect)

RENEWABLE RESOURCES

TOTAL

$1.3

$1.0

78.6%

$110.4

$60.7

54.9%

• consider and plan for longer-term trends that influence the commercial
environment within which they operate
S
TION
ERA
OP

RETURNS FOR
CLIENTS

Long-term investments financed by the public sector pension funds of British
Columbia help to diversify and strengthen the economic environment.

DIVIDENDS

Economy

Company

ire c t )

INVESTMENT $
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• capitalize on long-term market opportunities to strengthen future cash
flows.
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• focus on creating growth by committing resources to innovation, research
and development, technology, infrastructure, equipment, and training

REV
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TIMBERWEST FOREST CORP.

INTRANSIT BC

BROADWAY TECH CENTRE

COMPANY OVERVIEW:

COMPANY/ASSET OVERVIEW:

DEVELOPMENT OVERVIEW:

• Western Canada’s largest private timber and

• Responsible for building and now operating

• 17.8-acre office park with eight buildings,

land management company

the Canada Line over a 35-year period

• 804,200 acres of private timberlands

• The automated rapid transit line carries

38.5 million commuters between Vancouver,
Richmond, and Vancouver International Airport

• Complies with ISO 14001 and the
Sustainable Forestry Initiative

• Opened in August 2009 on budget and ahead

INVESTMENT OVERVIEW:

of schedule

• bcIMC first invested in 2009 through
convertible debentures

located adjacent to Vancouver’s rapid
transit line
• Building certifications include LEED Platinum,

LEED Gold, and BOMA BEST
• 1.1 million sq ft of leasable space
• Office accommodation for 5,000 people

INVESTMENT OVERVIEW:

INVESTMENT OVERVIEW:

• Took private in 2011, partnering with
Public Sector Pension Investment Board

• bcIMC and a group of long-term investors

• bcIMC acquired the property in 1995

• Held within our renewable resources portfolio

• Held within our infrastructure portfolio

TOTAL ECONOMIC CONTRIBUTIONS OF
INVESTMENT: 1

TOTAL ECONOMIC CONTRIBUTIONS OF
INVESTMENT: 1

DIRECT JOBS CREATED

1,000

invested in 2005

PROJECT TOTAL
CAPITAL COST

INDIRECT JOBS CREATED

2,000

$2.1 BILLION
CONSTRUCTION JOBS
CREATED

ESTIMATED CONTRIBUTION TO B.C.'s GDP IN 2013

$293 MILLION

1

Unless specified, all figures sourced from
TimberWest Forest Corp.
2
Source: BC Stats Input-Output Model

2

2,000

1
2

• Held within our real estate portfolio

TOTAL ECONOMIC CONTRIBUTIONS
OF INVESTMENT: 1
GOODS AND SERVICES

ONGOING JOBS CREATED

$463 MILLION

265

TAXATION REVENUE

GDP CONTRIBUTION

$40 MILLION

$64 MILLION 2

Unless specified, all figures sourced from InTransit BC
Estimated contribution to British Columbia’s GDP in 2013, including
direct and indirect effects, as well as supplier industry and induced
impacts; Source: BC Stats Input-Output Model
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• 17-year development period

JOBS CREATED

2,861

GDP CONTRIBUTION

$233 MILLION 2

1

Unless specified, all figures sourced from Bentall Kennedy.
Economic contributions are total contributions assumed to be
distributed throughout the investment period
2
Source: BC Stats Input-Output Model
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OUR KEY
ACHIEVEMENTS
FOR 2013–2014

PILLAR ONE:

PILLAR TWO:

INVESTMENT

RISK

RETURNS

OUR STRATEGIC FOUNDATION
bcIMC’s Strategic Framework guides our

Generate long-term client wealth, meet
our clients’ investment objectives, and
protect their capital.

Continue to identif y and manage
enterprise-wide and portfolio risks that
aﬀect investment outcomes and impact
operational eﬃciency.

• Returned 7.0 per cent against a combined
pension client benchmark of 6.4 per cent
over a 15-year period. Adding $6.0 billion
in value, net of fees.

• Processed over 114,000 transactions,
moved $1.0 trillion in cash, and settled
$147.2 billion in foreign exchange with a
high level of accuracy.

strategy development, investment management
activities and operations. Excellence in the five
pillars and the demonstration of our investment
beliefs and corporate values, individually
and collectively, drives bcIMC’s performance,
produces results for our clients, and allows us
to accomplish our vision and mission.

• Overweighting to global equities drove
one-year returns. 1
• Delivered above benchmark performance
for all of our major clients.
• Enhanced global exposure to 45.1 per
cent, compared to 41.7 per cent last year. 2
• Committed over $780 million to mortgage
investments.
• Expanded the thematic investment program
with investments in targeted publicly traded
food and healthcare companies.

VISION
MISSION

1

2 3 4
INVESTMENT BELIEFS

CORPORATE VALUES
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5

MANAGEMENT

• Restructured the international real estate
strategy and program to focus on low-risk,
low-leverage, and enhanced diversification.

• Expanded the foreign exchange trade order
management system across all asset classes.
As well as mitigating procedural risks, it
reduces operating costs by $600,000.
• Received an unqualified audit opinion
from the 3416 Report on Controls for
2013–2014, providing clients with added
assurance regarding our financial controls.
• Completed a tabletop exercise allowing
the Continuation Management Team to
role play the management of a singleincident disaster.

• Completed five new principal private
equity investments in consumer staples,
industrials, and telecommunications in
Asia, Australia, Canada, and the U.S.
1

Refer to pages 26 to 28 for full details of the returns and
benchmarks for all pooled funds
2
Based on net assets under management for the year ending
March 31

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS | Our Key Achievements

PILLAR THREE:

PILLAR FOUR:

PILLAR FIVE:

RESPONSIBLE

CLIENT

BUILDING

INVESTING

SERVICES

bcIMC

Continue to integrate environmental,
social, and governance issues into our
investment analysis and decision-making
processes, as well as our culture.

Continue to provide exemplary service
to our clients by enhancing a culture of
service, meeting their return requirements,
and exceeding their service expectations,
ensuring we remain their manager of choice.

Build a culture of long-term wealth
creation supported by a forward-looking
and global mindset.

• Engaged with 180 companies on corporate
governance, climate change, and human
rights themes.

• Sought clients’ support for the introduction
of the All Weather Fund.

• Completed Phase One of modernizing
our network and telecommunications
infrastructure.

• Co-filed our first U.S. shareholder proposal
and called for 21st Century Fox to reform its
governance practices.
• One of the first Canadian investors to
invest in global green bonds issued by the
International Finance Corporation.
• Financed $804 million of LEED-certified
properties since 2004.
• Certified an additional 20 properties under
the BOMA BESt, LEED, and Hotel Association
of Canada Green Key Eco-Rating programs.
• Ac tively par ticipated in PRI steering
committees on hydraulic fracturing, labour
standards in the agricultural supply chain,
sustainable financial system, and guidelines
for private equity general partners.

• Completed three asset liability studies for
pension plan clients.
• Transitioned funds of six clients to align
with their revised strategic asset allocation
framework.
• Developed a fundamental investment literacy
program to enhance trustees’ knowledge of
investment principles.
• Hosted the second Client Forum for clients
on our thematic investing program.
• Supported a major pension plan client
with their initiative to assess the economic
footprint of their plan by providing
information relating to specific investments
held within a number of pooled funds.

• Finalized planning the multi-year project to
enhance enterprise data management.
• Expanded the breadth and depth of the
bcIMC team by adding eight new positions.
• Changed the year-ends of 16 pooled fund
investment portfolio funds from March 31 to
December 31, streamlining our investment
accounting and reporting processes.
• Continued to provide cost- ef fec tive
investment management services; operating
costs for 2013–2014 were $220.7 million or
21.2 cents per $100 of average assets under
management.

• Introduced a theme-based quar terly
responsible investing newsletter to enhance
the communication of bcIMC’s approach to
managing long-term investment risks.

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS | Our Key Achievements

23

PILLAR ONE: INVESTMENT RETURNS
CAPITAL MARKETS OVERVIEW

OVERVIEW Stock markets in Europe and the U.S. had a good year in 2013

LONG-TERM RATES ROSE, BUT REMAINED HISTORICALLY LOW

and the first three months of 2014. Canada performed less well as concerns
mounted about emerging market economic growth and demand for commodities.
Emerging equity markets lagged, particularly after the U.S. Federal Reserve began
contemplating winding down its purchases of long-term bonds, also known as

10-Year Treasury Note Yield at Constant Maturity Average % p.a.
2-Year Treasury Note Yield at Constant Maturity Average % p.a.

3.5

quantitative easing, or QE.
2.5

As the end of quantitative easing appeared on the horizon and global economic
conditions improved, longer-term interest rates began to rise in May. Short-term rates
remained anchored close to zero by central banks in most major countries.
The prospect of higher long-term U.S. interest rates caused slippage in currencies of
emerging markets dependent on external financing of large current account positions:
notably Brazil, India, South Africa, Turkey, and Indonesia.
While interest rates remained historically low, credit growth in the major economies
was still modest in 2013 and early 2014; banks’ lending conditions eased from the
peak of the financial crisis but were still restrictive by historical standards.
While bank lending remained constrained, the gap between global saving and the
desired level of capital investment produced more than ample liquidity in global capital
markets. This resulted in investors taking more risk to generate higher returns, price
appreciation for many assets, and a return to bubble-like conditions in some pockets
of the capital markets.
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U.S. Federal Reserve begins discussing winding down asset purchases

1.5
0.5
APRIL
2013

JUNE
2013

SEPTEMBER
2013

DECEMBER
2013

MARCH
2014

Source: Federal Reserve Board, Haver Analytics

Policy preoccupies markets: Markets were focused on U.S. economic policy issues
for much of 2013. The year started with concerns about the state of the U.S. economy,
given the unplanned and significant tightening of fiscal policy due to political gridlock
that resulted in a budget “sequester” – large automatic spending cuts and tax increases.
In May, investor angst shifted to concerns about whether markets could ultimately
stand on their own two feet as the Federal Reserve began to muse about winding
down its purchases of long-term bonds.

A good year for global capital markets

“QE or not QE?” was the question in markets for the rest of 2013, but modest economic
growth and below-target inflation kept increases in long-term interest rates to a
minimum after the initial rise (see chart).
By the end of the year, Congress managed to adopt a budget agreement that funded the
government without a shutdown. This fuelled market optimism and greater willingness
to take risk, pushing up the U.S. and European equity markets.
Markets were skeptical of “Abenomics” in Japan, remaining to be convinced that
serious structural reforms would be implemented.
Investor concerns about China mounted in 2013. These included too much investment
in uneconomic infrastructure, excessive credit growth fuelled by “shadow banks,” and
a potential real estate bubble. Ironically, the government’s acknowledgement of these
problems and implementation of policies to deal with them added to market jitters.
Markets take political turmoil in stride: In the first quarter of 2014, concerns
shifted to eastern Europe, where Russia executed a bloodless severing of Crimea from
Ukraine, although this had little impact on financial markets by the end of March.
The Middle East, the biggest global hotspot, remained volatile but the worst scenarios
were avoided. The Syrian civil war escalated as the country violated the chemical
weapons treaty and U.S., U.K., and others seemed ready to conduct airstrikes to deter
this behaviour. However, Russia engineered an off-ramp, brokering a deal with Syria
for it to destroy its chemical weapons. Rising tensions with Iran were defused with an
agreement giving it six months to curtail its nuclear program. Iranians also elected a
less hostile-sounding president. Egypt remained in turmoil, and political unrest erupted
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in Turkey. Through all these tensions in the Middle East, world oil markets stayed
relatively calm.
Elsewhere, sabre-rattling by North Korea, disputes between China and its neighbours
over small islets in the East China Sea, and terrorist actions in parts of Africa against
shopping centres and oil refineries had minor impacts on financial markets.
Canada holds its own: Heading into 2013, many commentators expected high
household debt levels and excessive home prices to lead to a major correction in
Canada’s housing market and a sharp slowdown in consumer spending.
However, the economy grew modestly and the housing market decelerated gently in
response to the government’s gradual tightening of mortgage rules over the last couple
of years.
Corporate profits fell slightly, but markets were more focused on the deceleration
in emerging market growth and its impact on commodity prices and the energyand materials-heavy TSX. The Canadian equity market rose during the year, but
underperformed other developed-country indexes in relative terms.
By the end of 2013 and early in 2014, all of this began to weigh on the Canadian dollar,
which fell from U.S.$0.98 at the end of March 2013 to U.S.$0.90 by March 31, 2014.
This translated immediately into a higher Canadian-dollar value of bcIMC’s foreign
portfolio holdings and, over a longer period, should improve the competitive position
and earnings of Canadian exporters.
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FIXED
INCOME

Annualized returns and benchmarks (%) for the
periods ended March 31, 2014. Benchmarks are
presented in blue. Pooled fund returns, net of
fees, are in black. All returns are in Canadian
dollar terms.

POOLED FUND ANNUALIZED RETURNS
AND BENCHMARKS

SHORT-TERM

20
Year

15
Year

10
Year

5
Year

4
Year

3
Year

1
Year

Short-Term Fund One

3.2

2.6

2.0

0.8

0.9

1.0

1.0

DEX 30 Day Treasury Bill Index

3.1

2.5

1.9

0.7

0.8

0.9

0.9

Short-Term Fund Two

3.5

2.9

2.3

1.0

1.2

1.2

1.3

DEX 91 Day Treasury Bill Index

3.3

2.7

2.0

0.8

0.9

1.0

1.0

Short-Term U.S. Fund Three

2.0

0.2

(0.1)

(2.6)

2.1

4.3

8.6

Citigroup 30 Day Treasury Bill Index

1.6

(0.1)

(0.3)

(2.6)

2.2

4.3

8.7

Short-Term Bond Fund

–

4.6

3.6

2.4

2.8

2.6

1.6

DEX Short-Term Government Bond Index

–

4.5

3.6

2.4

2.8

2.6

1.6

MORTGAGES
Fixed-Term Mortgage Fund

–

6.6

5.8

6.3

5.6

5.4

3.8

DEX Short Term Bond Index +1%

–

5.8

4.9

4.2

4.2

4.1

2.9

Construction Mortgage Fund

–

6.1

5.7

4.9

5.0

4.8

5.0

DEX One Year Treasury Bill Index +1%

–

4.3

3.5

2.2

2.3

2.3

2.1

Mezzanine Mortgage Fund

–

–

8.5

8.3

5.2

7.2

9.5

DEX One Year Treasury Bill Index +2.5%

–

–

5.1

3.8

3.9

3.8

3.7

BONDS
Canadian Universe Bond Fund

–

–

–

5.8

5.3

5.3

1.2

DEX Universe Bond Index

–

–

–

5.0

5.0

5.0

0.8

Global Government Bond Fund

–

–

–

–

4.0

4.4

0.4

JP Morgan Global Investment Grade Government Bond
Index (GBI) (Hedged CAD) 1

–

–

–

–

4.6

5.1

1.8

Canadian Real Return Bond Fund
DEX Real Return Bond Overall Index

–

–

–

–

–

3.3

(6.5)

–

–

–

–

–

3.8

(6.0)

OTHER STRATEGIES
All Weather Fund ²
Nominal 6.5%

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

1

The Global Government Bond Fund benchmark was changed
on January 1, 2014
2
The All Weather Fund was funded on August 30, 2013
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CANADIAN PUBLIC EQUITY

PUBLIC
EQUITIES

Indexed Canadian Equity Fund
S&P/TSX Composite Index
Enhanced Indexed Canadian Equity Fund
S&P/TSX Capped Composite Index
Active Canadian Equity Fund
S&P/TSX Capped Composite Index
Active Canadian Small Cap Equity Fund
S&P/TSX Small Cap Index

20
Year

15
Year

10
Year

5
Year

4
Year

3
Year

1
Year

8.9
8.5
–
–
9.6
8.8
–
–

8.0
7.7
–
–
9.1
8.1
–
–

8.3
8.0
8.6
8.0
8.2
8.0
–
–

13.4
13.1
13.7
13.1
14.8
13.1
24.0
16.1

7.4
7.1
7.8
7.1
8.5
7.1
15.0
4.1

3.6
3.3
4.3
3.3
5.6
3.3
9.7
(4.4)

16.2
16.0
17.5
16.0
20.8
16.0
28.9
15.4

–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–
–
–
11.8
13.8
–
–
–

–
–
–
–
–
–
14.1
15.5
–
–
–

30.5
30.0
29.2
28.6
31.4
30.0
27.1
30.0
19.0
30.0
5.0

–
–
–
–
–
–
8.3
8.5
–
–
–

2.4
2.3
–
–
2.0
2.5
3.3
2.8
–
–
–

–
–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–
–

5.6
5.6
–
–
5.5
5.6
5.9
6.0
–
–
5.9
5.3
5.6
–
–
–
–

18.0
18.0
17.8
17.9
18.1
18.0
18.3
18.5
21.1
21.1
14.8
14.6
14.4
13.2
14.1
–
–

17.3
17.3
16.5
16.7
17.3
17.3
16.9
17.7
20.6
18.7
12.2
12.5
11.7
6.3
7.9
–
–

19.5
19.6
20.3
20.5
19.8
19.6
19.2
19.7
19.6
18.1
13.5
13.9
13.0
4.3
6.2
9.7
9.6

32.3
32.4
33.3
33.5
33.2
32.4
35.7
33.0
44.8
35.7
35.7
40.2
35.3
7.5
11.3
14.1
14.1

–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–

–
–
11.0
11.5

–
–
5.1
4.3

–
–
2.9
1.3

–
–
3.9
7.1

GLOBAL PUBLIC EQUITY

Annualized returns and benchmarks (%) for the
periods ended March 31, 2014. Benchmarks are
presented in blue. Pooled fund returns, net of
fees, are in black. All returns are in Canadian
dollar terms.

3

The Indexed Emerging Markets Equity Fund was funded
on July 23, 2013

Indexed Global Equity Fund
MSCI World ex-Canada Net Index
Indexed Global ESG Equity Fund
MSCI World ESG Index
Enhanced Indexed Global Equity Fund
MSCI World ex-Canada Net Index
Active Global Equity Fund
MSCI World ex-Canada Net Index
Thematic Public Equity Fund
Primary: MSCI World ex-Canada Net Index over four years
Secondary: Canadian Consumer Price Index +3.5% over
four years
Indexed U.S. Equity Fund
S&P 500 Total Return Index
U.S. Social Index Fund
MSCI KLD 400 Social Index
Enhanced Indexed U.S Equity Fund
S&P 500 Total Return Index
Active U.S. Equity Fund
Russel 1000 Index Total Return Index
Active U.S. Small Cap Equity Fund
Russell 2000 Total Return Index
Indexed European Equity Fund
Active European Equity Fund
MSCI Europe Net Index
Active Asian Equity Fund
MSCI All Country Asia Pacific ex-Japan Net Index
Indexed Asian Equity Fund
MSCI Pacific Net Index

EMERGING MARKETS
Indexed Emerging Markets Equity Fund 3
MSCI Emerging Markets Net Index
Active Emerging Markets Equity Fund
MSCI Emerging Markets Net Index
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PRIVATE PLACEMENTS,
REAL ESTATE, AND
INFRASTRUCTURE AND
RENEWABLE RESOURCES

Annualized returns and benchmarks (%) for the
periods ended March 31, 2014, except where
noted. Benchmarks are presented in blue. Pooled
fund returns, net of fees, are in black. All returns
are in Canadian dollar terms.

POOLED FUND ANNUALIZED RETURNS
AND BENCHMARKS

PRIVATE PLACEMENTS

20
Year

15
Year

10
Year

5
Year

Private Placement Program 4
MSCI All Country World Net Index +2% / BMO Small Cap
Index 10 Year Annualized +4.5%

4
Year

3
Year

1
Year

–

7.7

10.2

13.7

15.2

15.6

25.2

–

14.5

14.0

13.5

13.7

14.2

32.8

REAL ESTATE
10.1

9.9

11.0

9.3

11.7

11.7

6.9

Canadian CPI +4%

Realpool Domestic Fund

5.9

6.1

5.9

5.8

5.9

5.5

5.5

Realpool Global Fund 4 & 5

–

–

2.8

(1.9)

6.9

7.0

14.4

Canadian CPI +7%

–

–

8.8

8.6

8.7

8.5

8.2

Infrastructure Fund 4

–

–

–

10.8

11.3

11.5

11.4

INFRASTRUCTURE AND RENEWABLE RESOURCES
8% Nominal Benchmark

–

–

–

8.0

8.0

8.0

8.0

Renewable Resource Investment Fund 4

–

–

–

–

–

–

19.2

7% Nominal Benchmark

–

–

–

–

–

–

7.0

4

The Private Placements, Realpool Global, Infrastructure, and
Renewable Resources assets are illiquid in nature, and as
such, they are valued annually at December 31. The illiquid
asset returns are calculated as at December 31, 2013 using the
Horizon Internal Rate of Return methodology. These returns
reflect the combined activity in all the vintage year pooled
funds and WorkSafeBC Accident Fund's segregated investments
for the performance period. Benchmark returns are calculated
using the Time Weighted Rate of Return methodology. At the
time of publishing the Annual Report, the returns for the
illiquid assets are unaudited.
5
The Realpool International Fund was restructured into the
Realpool Global Fund on January 1, 2014
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B

Diversifying our clients’
funds across asset classes,
sectors, and regions

A Stanley Greene, a sustainable community project

A

at Toronto’s Downsview Park – bcIMC committed
in 2012 to provide construction ﬁnancing for this
development
B TIAA-CREF Global Agriculture LLC, our first
investment in agricultural farmland in major grainproducing regions, including the U.S., Australia,
South America, and Eastern Europe – bcIMC
committed funding in 2012
C Corix Infrastruc ture Inc., a leader in the
implementation of sustainable water, wastewater
and energy utility infrastructure solutions – a private
equity asset held since 2006

C
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FIXED INCOME
Offering clients fixed income investment strategies, including global government bonds,
investment-grade corporate securities, and real return bonds

PERFORMANCE ANALYSIS The year was characterized by low interest rates as

central banks continued to maintain their easy monetary policies. Overnight interest
rates were kept at or near zero per cent. However, longer-term interest rates moved
moderately higher after two years at or near record lows. The yield curve steepened
as rates for 10-year Government of Canada bonds increased by 0.7 percentage points;
two-year bonds rose by 0.2 percentage points. Robust investor demand for corporate
bonds narrowed the spreads, causing returns to be stronger than government bonds.
As the U.S. economy strengthened, specifically in the housing and employment
sectors, the Canadian dollar weakened against the U.S. dollar. Despite continued high
unemployment and low inflation within the European economy, the Canadian dollar
weakened against the euro. Meanwhile the Canadian dollar rallied against the yen
as the Bank of Japan attempted to weaken the yen and expand economic growth by
using quantitative easing.
The extraordinarily low central bank rates resulted in low returns for money market
funds. Our Short-Term Fund One, which invests in Canadian government debt
securities, returned 1.0 per cent against a one-year benchmark of 0.9 per cent.
Short-Term Fund Two, which holds Canadian federal, provincial, and municipal
debt, including corporate debt returned a modest 1.3 per cent for the year. The fund
continued to deliver superior long-term returns. Over a 20-year period, this fund has
generated a 3.5 per cent annualized return against a benchmark of 3.3 per cent.
Duration position and credit weighting contributed to this fund’s outperformance.
The Canadian Universe Bond Fund, the largest single fund at bcIMC, continued to
deliver value-added returns. Since its inception in 2006, this fund has outperformed
its benchmark for seven out of the last eight years. Over the five-year period, the fund
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returned 5.8 per cent against a benchmark of 5.0 per cent. This fund holds quality
government and investment-grade corporate debt that is highly liquid. It allows clients
to efficiently and cost-effectively alter their strategic asset allocations. At $13 billion,
this is one of largest universe bond funds in the country and brings a very high profile
to bcIMC among the Canadian investment dealer and bank community.
The Canadian Real Return Bond Fund underperformed its one-year benchmark by
0.5 percentage points. A one per cent sell off in real interest rates negatively affected
returns. This fund holds government-issued or guaranteed debt with inflation-adjusted
payments. By comparison, durations are much longer and liquidity is lower than
bcIMC’s other fixed income funds.

LOOKING FORWARD We anticipate that global central banks, including the

Bank of Canada, will maintain their monetary policies through the remainder of
2014. Monetary policies may tighten in 2015 when central banks are expected to
begin raising their overnight lending rates. We expect the low inflation Canadian
environment to continue into 2015. Given the widely held expectations of moderate
economic growth, we believe that within this environment, longer-term interest rates
will move modestly higher.
Looking ahead, bcIMC will maintain our reduced exposure to fixed income. Even
though our clients are increasingly allocating their funds to real assets, fixed income
offers liquidity and protection against deflation and equity downturns.

Refer to page 26 for full details of the returns and benchmarks for all pooled funds

THE YEAR IN REVIEW

FIXED INCOME PORTFOLIO ASSETS AS AT MARCH 31, 2014 1 & 2
4.5%

SEGREGATED GOVERNMENT BONDS
MONEY MARKETS

GLOBAL BONDS

12.7%

REAL RETURN
GOVERNMENT BONDS
SHORT-TERM BONDS

2.7%

13.1%
18.5%

48.5%
UNIVERSE
BONDS

MANAGING FOREIGN
EXCHANGE EXPOSURE TO

50 CURRENCIES

TOTALING OVER $44.9 BILLION
EXECUTED ABOUT

$650 BILLION

IN TRADE VOLUME THROUGH
13,440 SEPARATE TRANSACTIONS

1
2

Percentages based on net assets
The Fixed Income department manages
money market securities held by the
pooled funds of all other asset classes,
which amounted to $1.4 billion as of
March 31, 2014

MANAGING

$25.2 BILLION

OF FIXED INCOME AND
MONEY MARKET SECURITIES

22.1%

OF GROSS ASSETS
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• Introduced the All Weather Fund, a risk
parity investment product that holds a
mix of global assets that balances the
portfolio across various fundamental
economic environments. We believe
this fund will offer clients superior riskadjusted returns.
• With corporate bond holdings of $4.5
billion, bcIMC continued to be a leading
investor on new issues of corporate bonds.
• One of the first Canadian investors to
invest in green bonds offered by the
International Finance Corporation and
guaranteed by the World Bank. Funds
raised through these bond offerings
are used to lend to projects that seek
to mitigate global climate change.
These bonds are held within our Global
Government Bond Fund.
• Expanded our foreign exchange and
hedging capacity to include all of bcIMC’s
transactions within developed markets.
Transacted $42 billion in foreign exchange
trade volume.
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MORTGAGES
bcIMC is a major lender to Canada’s commercial real estate industry

PERFORMANCE ANALYSIS Narrowing mortgage spreads and continued low

coupon rates were prevalent across Canadian mortgage markets. Competition
remained high with banks, life insurance companies, pension funds, and commercial
mortgage-backed securities (CMBS) playing active roles within this sector. Real
estate investment trusts (REITs) raised capital through equity, debentures, convertible
debentures, and mortgage bonds, allowing them to acquire premium and sought-after
commercial real estate in major Canadian cities. REITs’ easy access to debt and equity
capital has effectively reduced the commercial mortgage universe.
bcIMC has the ability to finance large mortgage transactions and many borrowers
are willing to pay a premium to secure financing from a single lender. Within a highly
competitive market, we committed more than $780 million in mortgage loans through
18 different transactions.
Our program continued to deliver strong long-term returns and exceeded their
benchmarks. Quality investments, decreasing interest rates, and the ability to provide
timely mortgage approvals all contributed to bcIMC’s value-added performance.
Our Fixed-Term Mortgage Fund, which provides secured financing for incomeproducing commercial real estate, had a strong year. It returned 3.8 per cent over a
one-year period against a benchmark of 2.9 per cent. Over a 15-year period, the fund
exceeded its benchmark by 0.8 percentage points. We committed to a number of
large-scale investments during the credit crisis when mortgage spreads were at alltime highs. This activity, combined with the absence of mortgage arrears, continues to
contribute to the returns we are delivering today.
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These have been in place since 2008 and protect against the loss in value linked with
falling interest rates. The high quality investments, fee revenue, and the absence of
loan loss provisions also contributed to the returns. Longer-term performance over a
15-year period remained positive for participating clients at 6.1 per cent. Over a oneyear period, the fund returned 5.0 per cent against a benchmark of 2.1 per cent.
Our Mezzanine Mortgage Fund offers highly levered loans to commercial developers
and property owners. Over a 10-year period, the fund exceeded its benchmark by 3.4
percentage points. The fund returned 9.5 per cent against a benchmark of 3.7 per cent
for the year. Quality investments, decreasing interest rates, and the ability to provide
timely mortgage approvals contributed to the returns. Despite a higher risk profile, only
one loan loss provision has occurred since the inception of this fund in 1999.

LOOKING FORWARD With pension plans, life insurance companies, banks, and
CMBS conduits seeking financing opportunities for commercial real estate and large
scale projects, the lending environment will remain competitive. Mortgage spreads
for fixed-rate loans will likely remain at low levels. We anticipate that the yields for
Government of Canada bonds will increase slightly from the near historic lows, raising
interest and capitalization rates. This may negatively affect returns of the Fixed Term
Mortgage Fund – however, its short duration will minimize the consequences of
interest rate increases.

The Construction Mortgage Fund, which finances commercial developments, also
had a strong year. Interest rate floors were a significant driver of performance.

Given the environment, we will continue to negotiate mortgage terms with shorter
periods. This creates added protection against the adverse effects of rising interest
rates. While bcIMC’s interest rate floors will reduce the risk from changing interest
rates, this will temper deal flow.
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Refer to page 26 for full details of the returns and benchmarks for all pooled funds

DeerView Terrace, Calgary
Quarry Crossing, Calgary

THE YEAR IN REVIEW

MORTGAGE HOLDINGS BY PROPERTY TYPE AS AT MARCH 31, 2014 1
4.0% 1.1%

OTHER
INDUSTRIAL
RETAIL

HOSPITALITY

18.1%
20.1%

34.2%
RESIDENTIAL

1

Percentages based on net assets

$7.0 BILLION
COMMITTED TO CONSTRUCTION
LOANS SINCE 1995,
OF WHICH

$2.2 BILLION

WAS COMMITTED TO PROJECTS
IN BRITISH COLUMBIA

22.5%

OFFICE

MANAGING

$3.0 BILLION OF ASSETS

WITH FIXED INCOME RETURNS AND
REAL ESTATE AS SECURITY

2.6%

OF GROSS ASSETS
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• Committed over $780 million to new
commercial mor tgages. Notable
commitments include a $107-million
construction loan to develop two office
buildings totalling 322,000 square feet,
located in Calgary, Alberta. Both buildings
will likely obtain LEED Gold certification.
• Collaborated with a chartered bank
allowing us to provide our construction
borrowers with cost-effective letters
of credit to their projects’ regional
jurisdiction. This allows bcIMC to compete
more effectively with chartered banks.
• Conducted our second Borrower and
Broker Mortgage Survey. Key business
clients gave a 93 per cent satisfaction
rating of our customer ser vice and
expressed appreciation for bcIMC’s
professionalism. The participation rate of
32 per cent compared favourably to the
27 per cent of the initial survey conducted
in 2010–2011. Feedback will be used to
enhance our client-related services.

33

PRIVATE PLACEMENTS
Providing long-term private capital to companies with strong fundamentals
and experienced management

PERFORMANCE ANALYSIS Overall private equity markets performed strongly

PRIVATE PLACEMENTS PROGRAM PERFORMANCE

in 2013. Private equity investors enjoyed more stable macroeconomic conditions,
stronger public equity markets, persistent low interest rates, and accommodating debt
markets. Investment returns across the asset class were very robust. Developed market
portfolios outpaced emerging markets due in part to slowing economic growth and
increased currency volatility in many of these markets.

Annualized returns for the periods ended December 31, 2013

Realizations on previous investments gained momentum as new initial public offering
issuances, trade sales, and dividend recapitalizations were commonplace. Significant
capital was then returned to investors, contributing to an active new fundraising
environment for general partners.
Our program’s 15-year unaudited internal rate of return for the period ending December
31, 2013 was 7.7 per cent, against a benchmark of 14.5 per cent. Investments in fundof-funds and venture capital made in the early years of our program continue to inhibit
long-term performance. This impact, however, is being resolved over time with stronger
midterm performance reflecting our change in approach and investment model.
Strong short-term returns reflect improving market conditions and the realization of
some of our investments at attractive valuations. The program returned 25.2 per cent
(unaudited) against a one-year benchmark of 32.8 per cent. North American and
European investments as well as the depreciation of the Canadian dollar against the
euro and U.S. dollar were the primary drivers of returns. As within the industry, we saw
some weakness in our Asian and emerging market portfolios.
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32.8%

BENCHMARK

25.2%

14.5%
7.7%

15 YEAR

14.0%

13.7%

15.2%

10.2%

13.5%

13.7%

10 YEAR

5 YEAR

4 YEAR

1 YEAR

LOOKING FORWARD We expect to build on the success of the past year with many

of the same underlying market support mechanisms in place – strong public markets,
accommodative debt markets, and a relatively stable economic environment. However,
we are cautious of current conditions being characterized by a growing industry
overhang of capital, more active corporate investors, and rising asset valuations. In
this light, investment focus on appropriate sectors and more conservative capital
structures will come to the fore.

Four-year unaudited performance for the program was 15.2 per cent against a
benchmark of 13.7 per cent. Our program’s four- and ten-year performance compared
to global public equity market returns, including the program’s absolute returns, are
key metrics for assessing the program’s success in generating long-term client wealth.

Our portfolio of principal (direct) investments continues to grow and deliver superior
returns. With holdings across the globe in diverse sectors, we believe our portfolio is
well positioned to deliver expected long-term returns. As a more attractive investment
environment materializes in emerging markets we anticipate additional principal
investments by our program in these countries in 2014.
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Refer to page 28 for full details of the returns and benchmarks for all pooled funds

THE YEAR IN REVIEW

REGIONAL DISTRIBUTION OF PRIVATE PLACEMENTS AS AT DECEMBER 31, 2013 1
ASIA
CANADA
EMERGING MARKETS

• Committed $1.1 billion 3 to five new
principal investments and nine
funds; enhanced our exposure to five
existing investments.

3.0%
12.9%
19.1%

36.9%
U.S.

1

Percentages based on net assets

28.1%

INVESTED IN OVER

MANAGING

COMPANIES WORLDWIDE 2

OF PRIVATELY NEGOTIATED
INVESTMENTS

10,000

2

$5.4 BILLION

Including investment interests in fund-of-funds

$11.7 BILLION
COMMITTED TO PRIVATE
EQUITY SINCE 1995

4.8%

EUROPE

• Received $1.3 billion in distributions 4
with more than $200 million coming from
direct investments – notable distributions
were provided by: CPA Global, a leading
provider of intellectual property and
outsourced legal services; Vantiv, a U.S.based payment processing company;
Ziggo, a European-based cable utility.
• Expanded our buyout relationship network
by adding: Bain Capital, a U.S.-based firm
with a global focus; GTCR, focused on the
U.S. middle market; Navis Capital, with a
focus on southeast Asia; Warburg Pincus,
with a global growth focus.
• Diversified the program with principal
inve s t m e nt s in co nsum e r s t a ple s ,
industrials, and telecommunications in
Asia, Australia, Canada, and the U.S.

OF GROSS ASSETS
3
4
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Commitments for the calendar year ending December 31, 2013
Distributions for the calendar year ending December 31, 2013
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PUBLIC EQUITIES
A public equities portfolio positioned to capture global growth
and income opportunities

PERFORMANCE ANALYSIS It was a strong year for the developed equity markets

ACTIVE CANADIAN EQUITY FUND PERFORMANCE

as policymakers continued their supportive fiscal and monetary policy programs,
encouraging investors to move into public equities. Emerging markets performed
poorly with concerns about the effect of liquidity reductions, while unease about
property markets, bank strength, and credit standards also weighed on returns.

Annualized returns for the periods ended March 31, 2014

The performance of the indexed funds aligned with our short and long-term
expectations. These results were expected as the funds are managed in line with the
risk-return characteristics of their benchmarks. The Indexed Global ESG Equity Fund
returned 29.2 per cent against a one-year benchmark of 28.6 per cent.
The enhanced indexed funds provided very strong returns for the one-year period;
all three funds outperformed their index. After an extended period of macro risk
dominating the investment environment, conditions became more favourable for
enhanced and active management strategies. Our internally managed Enhanced
Indexed Global Equity Fund returned 31.4 per cent, while the Enhanced Indexed
Canadian Equity Fund returned 17.5 per cent. Over a five-year period, this fund has
returned 13.7 per cent against a benchmark of 13.1 per cent.
The good returns for active management provided clients with value-added
performance. Notably, the Active Canadian Equity Fund – jointly managed by bcIMC
and an external manager – outperformed the S&P/TSX Composite by 4.8 percentage
points. Among our externally managed active funds, the Active European Equity Fund
in particular had good results. Over a one-year period, the fund returned 40.2 per cent
and outperformed the MSCI Europe Net Index by 4.9 percentage points.
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20.8%
14.8%

16.0%

BENCHMARK

13.1%

9.6%

9.1%

8.8%

8.1%

8.0%

20 YEAR

15 YEAR

10 YEAR

8.5%

8.2%

7.1%

5 YEAR

4 YEAR

1 YEAR

LOOKING FORWARD The global economy will continue to improve and we are

optimistic about the year ahead. The stabilization of the euro-zone and the mitigation
of large geopolitical risks will increase investor confidence in publicly traded equities.
As interest rates begin to rise, investors will increasingly move out of fixed income and
redeploy their capital into the equity markets. We expect that the emerging markets
will become more attractive as long-term drivers – such as favourable demographics,
infrastructure needs, and the development of capital markets – strengthen. Valuations
are likely to remain attractive for most markets.

Refer to page 27 for full details of the returns and benchmarks for all pooled funds

THE YEAR IN REVIEW

REGIONAL ALLOCATION OF PUBLIC EQUITIES AS AT MARCH 31, 2014 1
ASIA

• Launched the Indexed Emerging Markets
Equit y Fund, providing exposure to
companies in countries with fast-growing
economies. About $1.0 billion is managed
through this fund.

8.8%

EMERGING MARKETS

15.5%

EUROPE

17.4%

30.0%
U.S.

1

28.3%

Percentages based on net assets

59.0% IN-HOUSE

OF ASSETS MANAGED

CANADA

$54.2 BILLION

• Received an initial $100-million Qualified
Foreign Institutional Investor quota from
the Chinese Securities and Regulatory
Commission, allowing bcIMC to invest
in the domestic China A-Share market
through our Active Emerging Markets
Equity Fund. Awarded mandates to APS,
a China A-Share manager.

MANAGING
OF PUBLICLY TRADED SECURITIES

• Terminated six ex ternal manager s
and reallocated mandates to enhance
performance within our actively managed
program.

TOTAL VALUE
TRADED INTERNALLY:

INVESTED IN 6,500 COMPANIES
ACROSS 46 COUNTRIES

THROUGH
51,000 ORDERS

47.5%

• Broadened the Thematic Public Equity
Fund by adding selected companies
within the food and healthcare sectors.
$1.1 billion is managed through this fund.

2

Calculated on a net asset basis

$24.7 BILLION

2

OF GROSS ASSETS
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• Of the 20 equity funds, 12 exceeded and
one met their one-year benchmarks. Most
delivered good multi-year returns.
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INFRASTRUCTURE AND RENEWABLE RESOURCES
Building global portfolios of infrastructure and renewable resources that generate strong,
sustainable cash flows with low volatility

INFRASTRUCTURE: PERFORMANCE ANALYSIS

RENEWABLE RESOURCES: PERFORMANCE ANALYSIS

In 2013 infrastructure, as an asset class, continued to benefit from strong investor demand
for yield and stable returns within their portfolios. Although the number of transactions
increased globally, the value of total capital invested remained consistent with the
previous year at approximately U.S.$275 billion. New investment allocations continued to
rise year-over-year with more than U.S.$33 billion raised on a worldwide basis.

Our renewable resources fund holds primarily core investments in timberlands and
funds that focus on global timber and agriculture.

Our fund continued to deliver strong performance. Unaudited returns were 11.4
per cent for the year and 11.3 per cent on a four-year basis for the period ended
December 31, 2013.
Improving economic conditions, strong dividend yields, and solid portfolio company
operations drove one- and multi-year returns. These mitigated the effects of regulatory
matters on specific utilities and the increased discount rates used by bcIMC to value
our companies. A number of our utility investments continued to be the primary drivers
of value-added performance, notably Transelec S.A. (electric transmission, Chile) and
Open Grid Europe GmbH (gas transmission, Germany).
LOOKING FORWARD We remain optimistic about this asset class. Long-term fundamental
trends for infrastructure investment requirements remain intact. With aging infrastructure
in developed markets, it is likely there will be significant global spending requirements
over coming decades. Given the ongoing fiscal deficits of numerous governments, many
of these projects may not be financed by traditional sources. As a result, opportunities for
investing in large-scale infrastructure assets may come to market.

Unaudited returns were 19.2 per cent on a one-year basis for the period ended
December 31, 2013. Performance was driven by our core Canadian-based timberland
and agriculture fund investments. Higher prices for timber, stronger exports,
and a weakening Canadian dollar contributed to the solid operations of our core
investments. Continued strong markets for agricultural land, coupled with favourable
rental levels and strong permanent crop prices, led to the healthy performance of our
agricultural funds.

LOOKING FORWARD Within the renewable resources sector, we anticipate the supply
of global timber to tighten in the future. This will be driven by stable housing growth
in the U.S., an economic recovery in Europe, and a shortage of fibre in Asian markets.
In the short term demand for timber may decline, particularly in markets such as
China where economic growth is expected to slow down. Cyclical events within the
economy may present demand risk and affect timber pricing. In the agricultural space,
we expect rental lease rates for properties to remain stable across Australia, Brazil,
Canada, and the U.S.

bcIMC’s infrastructure fund is well-positioned for future growth and delivering strong
risk-adjusted returns. Current market conditions, combined with a very strong investor
interest in real assets, demand a disciplined and proactive approach to generating and
assessing investment opportunities. We will continue to build our portfolio by investing
in infrastructure assets in regions with mature and stable regulatory frameworks.
38
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TimberWest Forest Corp.
Open Grid Europe GmbH

THE YEAR IN REVIEW

REGIONAL DISTRIBUTION OF INFRASTRUCTURE FUND AS AT DECEMBER 31, 2013 1
ASIA
18.4%

EMERGING MARKETS
EUROPE

• Committed almost $745 million to new
infrastructure investments – one direct,
one co-investment, and two funds.

2.0%

25.1%

31.5%
U.S.

1

Assets in the Infrastructure Program are
valued annually at December 31

23.0%

CANADA

INVESTED IN OVER

MANAGING

ACROSS THE PRIVATE MARKET
INFRASTRUCTURE AND RENEWABLE
RESOURCES PROGRAMS

OF INFRASTRUCTURE AND
RENEWABLE RESOURCES

14 COUNTRIES

$2.3 BILLION

RECEIVED IN DISTRIBUTIONS
ACROSS BOTH PROGRAMS
SINCE INCEPTION

$6.4 BILLION

INFRASTRUCTURE

4.5%

OF GROSS ASSETS
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RENEWABLE RESOURCES

1.1%

• Received over $502 million in
distributions from our infrastructure
portfolio, reflecting the strength and
maturity of the portfolio – notable
distributions were provided by Open
Grid Europe GmbH, Transelec S.A., and
Trencap LP.
• Increased our share holdings, through
a joint venture with two like-minded
investors, in Arteris S.A. (formerly OHL
Brasil), the largest private toll road
operator in Brazil.
• Committed almost $220 million to new
renewable resources investments –
notable commitments included a fund
that provides exposure to stable lease
income from farmlands.

OF GROSS ASSETS
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REAL ESTATE
Focusing on the strategic ownership, operation, and development of direct real estate assets,
both domestically and internationally, since 1991

PERFORMANCE ANALYSIS As the Canadian economy recorded consistent, albeit

REALPOOL DOMESTIC FUND PERFORMANCE

moderate, growth in 2013, domestic real estate reported solid returns over the year.
Steady employment and population growth, key drivers of commercial real estate demand,
kept fundamentals firm across the country. Vacancy levels for commercial property types
remained below historic long-term averages in most markets, leading to slight increases
in rental rates. Overall, the stable, growing cash flows of operating commercial properties
continued to provide consistent income to real estate owners and investors.

Annualized returns for the periods ended March 31, 2014

Domestic markets remained extremely competitive for new property acquisitions.
Valuations and sale prices increased in primary markets such as Calgary, Toronto, and
Vancouver. Given these dynamics, bcIMC is developing single- and mixed-use, best-inclass properties in proven core locations. Development is a cost-effective and strategic
approach to expanding our portfolio; all opportunities are thoroughly researched and
conservatively underwritten by our experienced real estate team before projects are
approved.
bcIMC has been building a domestic portfolio for more than 20 years with a longterm focus on generating consistent returns through economic cycles. Over a 20-year
period, the portfolio exceeded its benchmark by 4.2 percentage points and returned
10.1 per cent. One-year annualized returns were 6.9 per cent against a benchmark of
5.5 per cent. Returns were driven by strategic properties held in prime metropolitan
areas. With diversified holdings and high tenant retention, our Canadian portfolio is
well-positioned for low volatility and stable income returns.
In 2013 we revised our global investment strategy. Using lessons learned from our
Canadian program, the new approach focuses on holding premium income-producing
properties in regions with strong and growing economies. Over the year, the global
portfolio returned 14.4 per cent against a benchmark of 8.2 per cent.
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10.1%

11.7%

11.0%
9.9%

9.3%
6.9%

5.9%

6.1%

5.9%

5.8%

5.9%

5.5%

20 YEAR

15 YEAR

10 YEAR

5 YEAR

4 YEAR

1 YEAR

BENCHMARK

LOOKING FORWARD Although the Canadian real estate market has seen strong

performance levels in recent years, we are monitoring some emerging trends to
assess the risk and effect on our strategy. Economic, demographic, technological,
and environmental challenges may influence the demand and use of commercial
real estate, while geopolitical tensions can quickly alter economies and markets,
particularly beyond domestic borders.
While we are cautiously optimistic about the long-term outlook for real estate, we
are mindful of the potential influence that external factors may have on sectors.
Accordingly, we continue to concentrate on internal strengths such as a build-to-core
approach to growing our portfolio and identifying opportunities for enhancing net
operating income from our existing properties. Owning a resilient, relevant, and stable
portfolio continues to be a primary focus for bcIMC’s real estate team.
Refer to page 28 for full details of the returns and benchmarks for all pooled funds

Livingstone Place, Calgary

THE YEAR IN REVIEW

DOMESTIC REAL ESTATE ASSETS BY PROPERTY TYPE AS AT MARCH 31, 2014 1
HOSPITALITY

7.4%

RETAIL

0.9%
0.7%

10.8%

INDUSTRIAL

MIXED USE
OTHER

11.2%

RESIDENTIAL

22.9%

• Initiated a new asset management
relationship with the Realstar Group, one
of the largest and most successful multifamily managers in Canada.

46.1%
OFFICE

1

• Acquired Bayview Village, a 440,000square-foot premium retail centre in
Toronto, providing a unique opportunity
for additional mixed-use development in a
prime urban location.

Percentages based on net assets

16.0%

26

LEVERAGE RATIO FOR THE
CANADIAN PORTFOLIO

ACTIVE DEVELOPMENTS
THROUGHOUT CANADA

DEVELOPED

100 CANADIAN PROPERTIES

SINCE 1991, OF WHICH 92 REMAIN WITHIN OUR PORTFOLIO

MANAGING A

$19.8-BILLION

(GROSS MANAGED
ASSETS)

GLOBAL REAL ESTATE
PORTFOLIO, OF WHICH
$18.8 BILLION IS IN CANADA

17.4%

• Raised $500 million by issuing bonds
to Canadian markets at a five-year rate
of 2.79 per cent; these funds finance
ongoing real estate developments.

• Completed eight developments totalling
approximately $200 million in metropolitan
areas throughout Canada. Projects
included offices, industrial facilities,
and hospitality.
• Restructured our international real estate
investment program and re-launched it as
the Realpool Global Fund.

OF GROSS ASSETS
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS | Pillar One: Investment Returns

41

PILLAR TWO | RISK MANAGEMENT
Our business involves taking on risk and pricing it accordingly while having the ability
to avoid or minimize risks that are costly and affect returns

Managing risk is a means of protecting the value of our clients' funds and is integral
to the job function of everybody at bcIMC. Our enterprise-wide risk management
framework addresses market, credit, environmental, legal, and operational risk. It also
includes strategic human resources, strategic information technology, and business
continuity planning. We continually enhance our rigorous risk frameworks, adopt good
practices, and ensure that we embed risk management into our daily operations.
The Board and CEO/CIO monitor strategic and reputational risk. The CEO/CIO
establishes the framework and is updated on the identification and mitigation of risks.
An internal committee reviews enterprise-wide risks and submits quarterly and annual
reports to the Board. The internal audit function reviews systematic risk within our
financial procedures. Results are shared with management and the Audit Committee.
Market risk is a primary aspect of the investment process. We adopt prudent
investment practices and ensure that the risk is appropriate to each client and their
expected return. We knowingly take on risk, assess the consequences of macro trends,
and continually re-evaluate market conditions.
Credit risk focuses on credit concerns with fixed income, mortgages, and securities
lending. bcIMC produces our own internal notional credit ratings of companies which
are then used in conjunction with those of rating agencies. Our trading activities are
governed by the use of approved brokers, dealers, and derivative counterparties.
Managing environmental risk begins with our pre-investment analysis of all
opportunities. We work with accredited environmental consultants. Post-investment
practices include maintaining environmental records and ensuring compliance with
legislation. We review legislative changes for potential impacts on our investments.
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bcIMC follows a principle-based approach to identifying and mitigating legal risk.
Loss or dilution of legal rights can have negative financial consequences for our clients.
Policies, such as those concerning anti-money laundering and insider trading, address
legal compliance risks.
Operational risk is managed through departmental registers which are reviewed
by the chief operating officer. An internal committee meets monthly to monitor
and manage change initiatives and assess procedural efficiencies and practices.
Eliminating unnecessary operational complexity is an ongoing priority. We assess
business processes to identify opportunities for streamlining and automation. Our
audited Service Organization Controls Report, prepared in line with the CSAE 3416
standards, details our financial controls over our investment system.
Strategic human resources risks are managed through a framework that aligns the
employment lifecycle with our business strategy. We mitigate risks through recruiting
practices, training, developing leadership, and managing succession planning.
Our strategic information technology risk management is aligned with
industry best practices. These include the Information Systems Audit and Control
Association’s globally accepted framework Control Objectives for Information and
Related Technology.
Business continuity planning involves the development, maintenance, and testing
of action plans to respond to an event that threatens our operations. We successfully
completed a tabletop exercise for a single incident scenario and considered the effect
of a wide-area disaster on bcIMC.

THE YEAR IN REVIEW

OUR GUIDING PRINCIPLES
RISK MANAGEMENT IS THE

RESPONSIBILITY OF

EVERY EMPLOYEE

MANAGING RISK

IS AS IMPORTANT AS

GENERATING RETURNS

CLIENTS EXPECT TO BE REWARDED WITH HIGHER RETURNS
FOR TAKING ON ADDITIONAL MARKET AND CREDIT RISK
EXPOSURE TO UNINTENDED RISKS
– MARKET, CREDIT, ENVIRONMENTAL,
LEGAL AND/OR OPERATIONAL –

PROACTIVE

RECOGNITION AND ASSESSMENT

IS NOT REWARDED

OF RISK IS IMPORTANT

CONTINUOUS IMPROVEMENT

HONEST AND CANDID

OF OUR RISK FRAMEWORKS AND
PROCESSES IS NECESSARY

COMMUNICATION
IMPROVES RISK MANAGEMENT
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• Prepared for the CEO/CIO transition by
developing client and staff orientation
programs, and reviewing procedures,
controls, and authorities.
• Continued with the multi-year project to
develop an alternative asset allocation
methodology, which includes a framework
for measuring and monitoring qualitative
portfolio risk.
• A ssessed the investment impac t of
taxation changes in various jurisdictions.
• Addressed the implementation and
reporting requirements of the Dodd–Frank
Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection
Act.
• Expanded the foreign exchange trade order
management system across all asset classes.
As well as mitigating procedural risks, it
reduces operating costs by $600,000.
• Received an unqualified audit opinion
for the 3416 Report on Controls for
2013–2014, providing clients with added
assurance regarding our financial controls.
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PILLAR THREE | RESPONSIBLE INVESTING
Protecting and growing the financial value of the companies in which we invest by taking
environmental, social, and governance factors into account

Responsible investing is integral to the investment beliefs shared by bcIMC and our clients.
We believe that companies that do a good job of managing environmental, social, and
governance matters (ESG) have less risk and perform better financially over the longer
term. bcIMC is a founding signatory to the Principles for Responsible Investment (PRI).
PRINCIPLE 1: INTEGRATION OF ESG ISSUES INTO INVESTMENT
ANALYSIS AND DECISION-MAKING PROCESSES
Understanding ESG matters forms part of our due diligence and risk assessment
of prospective real asset and mortgage investments. The fundamental analysis for
our fixed income and internally-managed active domestic equity mandates involves
scoring Canadian publicly traded companies against ESG factors. As this informs our
decision making, we refined the indicators and their weighting to more accurately
reflect the ESG risks for sectors within the Canadian economy.
Once invested, we are active owners and use our influence to encourage companies
to manage and disclose their risks and opportunities. We trust that proactive dialogue
with directors and senior executives is the best way to advance the management of
risk, and in so doing encourage companies to enhance operations.
We expect our companies to focus on the long-term and to pursue practices that add to
their value and produce reliable cash flows. Our expectations are that our companies:
• comply with the laws of Canada, or the laws of the jurisdiction within which they
operate, and international standards
• meet or exceed all environmental regulations and aspire to reduce the impact of
their operations on the environment
• apply best practices for corporate governance, adopt good standards of safety and
employee welfare, and be responsible in their operations by effectively managing
relationships with suppliers, customers and communities.
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Public Equities: In addition to an active shareholder engagement program (page 46),
we offer two pooled funds that adopt a best-in-class approach for selecting companies.
The U.S. Social Index Fund (established in 2006) and the Indexed Global ESG Equity
Fund (established in 2013) exclude companies with significant activities involving
alcohol, tobacco, firearms, gambling, nuclear power, or military weapons.
Although bcIMC believes that engaging is more effective in seeking change than
divestment, we may underweight a company’s shares in cases where constructive
engagement does not address the risks. We have also restricted companies from our
pooled funds since 2010 that do not comply with the Anti-Personnel Mines Convention
(Ottawa Treaty) and the Convention on Cluster Munitions (Oslo Treaty).
Mortgages: When assessing applications for commercial mortgages, we favour
developments and projects with environmentally sound principles that match our clients’
risk and return parameters. Our credit risk system specifically scores environmental
features, and we are reviewing our ratings to include buildings being retrofitted to
achieve certifications. bcIMC’s LEED-accredited investment professional ensures that
green technologies are verified and quantified before assigning a credit rating.
We have provided $1.5 billion in financing for “green” developments since 2004,
of which $804 million was for LEED-certified properties. This includes financing
the recent renovations of the 154-room Rosewood Hotel Georgia, Vancouver, with
geothermal heating as a feature.
We also invest in mortgage funds. Prior to engaging external managers, we review
and assess their approach to managing ESG matters. Once engaged, we encourage
our managers to comply with regulations that govern worker health and safety, labour,
and the environment. Our expectations are outlined in a guideline document.

Evergreen Building, Vancouver

Real Estate: Through responsible property investing, we are building a resilient real estate program that
maximizes the value of our holdings without undue risk of loss and prepares the portfolio for future opportunities.
Our commitment is shared by our 11 external managers and three portfolio companies.

bcIMC’S GUIDING
PRINCIPLES AND BELIEFS

Regulations that govern environmental and social matters, evolving expectations of tenants, and physical risks
resulting from climate change are among the many factors we consider before and after an investment. We invest
in and develop properties that are energy efficient as well as environmentally- and tenant-friendly.

• Long-term asset value is our primary concern;
ESG matters are addressed to the extent that
they influence risk and return.

We use the European Private Equity and Venture Capital Association (EVCA) Corporate Governance Guidelines
as a basis for ensuring sound governance practices within our portfolio companies. We expect the board of
directors to promote sound corporate governance and align executive compensation with performance. Quality
reporting and disclosure of the company’s operations is required.

• Risks and opportunities vary between assets,
regions, and sectors; we adapt our strategy
and approach.

Private Equity and Infrastructure: As these investments are made with a very long-term outlook, we assess
the governance model of the prospective acquisition. We also commission reports on legal, environmental,
regulatory, and labour matters. Risks identified during the due diligence phase may be addressed directly with the
company or through our investment partners. Post-investment, we monitor the company’s financial, operational,
and regulatory performance. When we have a significant ownership interest, we appoint representatives to the
board of directors. Our involvement in strategy and governance at the board level helps ensure the application
of our governance expectations.
Our portfolios also include fund investments. Prior to engaging external managers, we review their approach to
responsible investing. Once engaged, we encourage our managers to advance the integration of ESG into their
processes. Our expectations are outlined in guideline documents.
bcIMC’s activities are aligned with the PRI’s Responsible Investment in Private Equity guide for limited partners
and the Institutional Limited Partners Association’s Private Equity Principles.
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• Knowledge and reason, while keeping in mind
the importance of returns, inform our decisions.
• We do not place unnecessary burdens on our
companies; introducing good practices and
meaningful, large-scale change takes time.
• Engaging is more effective in enhancing
governance practices than divesting.
• We have a responsibilit y to ad vance
responsible investing within our industry.
• The integration and implementation of
responsible investing is constantly under
development: we shall continuously learn
from our own practices and experience.
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RESPONSIBLE INVESTING

PRINCIPLE 2 : ACTIVE OWNERSHIP AND INCORPORATION OF ESG
ISSUES INTO OWNERSHIP POLICIES AND PRACTICES

companies have signed the accord, bcIMC will engage with companies that have yet
to commit.

Public Equities: Proxy voting is one way in which bcIMC fosters good corporate
governance and accountability. All proxies are voted in-house and in accordance with
our Corporate Governance Principles and Proxy Voting Guidelines. After conducting
extensive research, we vote all of our Canadian, U.S., and the most valuable global
holdings. bcIMC voted at more than 1,820 company meetings in 37 countries. We
opposed management recommendations on compensation 61 per cent of the time.

Aligning executive compensation with performance is another engagement priority. In
addition to our regular activities, we communicated with more than 100 companies
listed on the S&P/TSX Composite Index and urged the voluntary adoption of an
advisory vote on compensation. Eight companies have agreed to our request to date;
we are optimistic that more will follow suit.

We engaged with 180 publicly traded companies this year on long-term material
matters: climate change, human rights, and governance. Our approach, outlined in
our Shareholder Engagement Guidelines and Priorities and available on our website,
is based on the philosophy that engaging is more effective than divesting in seeking to
enhancing governance practices.
Our engagement on climate change addresses topics such as reporting and disclosure,
emissions reduction, resource efficiency, and regulatory preparation. We engaged
with 25 companies on these matters and continued to support the CDP (formerly
the Carbon Disclosure Project) initiative. More companies than ever before disclosed
via CDP this year, with overall progress in climate change management and more
emissions reduction targets.
With human rights, we focus primarily on matters relating to worker health and safety,
and target companies with the greatest exposure, particularly in the extractive sector.
We seek enhanced reporting and disclosure and, where appropriate, encourage the
implementation of best practices. Our activities for the year included discussing the
Bangladesh Accord with the Retail Council of Canada and IndustriAll. While 100
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Real Estate: As operating efficiencies help control costs, we have measured our
portfolio’s environmental footprint since 2007. We have consistently reduced the
emissions on a per-square-foot basis, despite our growing portfolio. Activities such
as tenant engagement programs to reduce energy consumption were piloted this year
and will be introduced to other properties managed by Bentall Kennedy in 2014.
Over 80 per cent of our Canadian real estate portfolio is certified under LEED, BOMA
BESt, or the Hotel Association of Canada’s Green Key Eco-rating Program. During the
year 25 buildings achieved new certifications. Notably, 105 Hotel De Ville was the first
commercial building in Gatineau, Quebec to receive the LEED Gold Existing Buildings:
Operations and Management certification.
Privately Held Investments: When we have a significant ownership interest in
companies within our infrastructure, real estate, and renewable resources programs,
we appoint representatives to the board of directors. To ensure our representatives
remain informed of our governance expectations and trends, we arrange an annual
Investment Governance Retreat. Discussion topics this year included the importance
of governing for long-term value and the role of the chair in ensuring effective board
governance.

1
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PRINCIPLE 3: SEEK APPROPRIATE DISCLOSURE ON ESG ISSUES
As a long-term investor, transparency allows us to more accurately assess non-financial factors and investment
risk of the sectors and companies in which we invest. We interact with policymakers, regulators, and companies
in promoting the value and importance of disclosure and reporting.
Our multi-year collaborative effort with PRI and the Investor Network on Climate Risk (INCR) on the sustainable
stock exchanges initiative continued. bcIMC assisted with developing a proposed listing standard for stock
exchanges making sustainable reporting mandatory around the world. Exchanges such as the NASDAQ were
included in consultations. Through our engagement, we supported the proposal of the Australian Stock Exchange
requiring companies to disclose the effect of ESG risks on business activities. We also urged the Australian Stock
Exchange to join the global initiative led by PRI and INCR.

bcIMC AND THE CDP
Working with CDP, bcIMC has helped
create the most comprehensive global
database currently available for
company-speciﬁc analysis on climate risk
and opportunities.

We participated in two working groups of the Sustainability Accounting Standards Board. This organization
is developing sector-specific standards for use by publicly listed companies in the U.S. disclosing material
environmental and social risks. Given our investment exposure to extractive industries, bcIMC assisted with the
identification of indicators for the oil & gas and metals & mining sectors.

CDP (formerly the Carbon Disclosure Project)
annually surveys public companies on their
approaches to climate change. This informs
business, investment, and policy decisions.
CDP today represents 767 institutional
investors with combined assets of U.S.$92
trillion. bcIMC joined in 2006.

bcIMC has been an investor signatory to the Extractive Industries Transparency Initiative since 2011. We
participated in consultations with the federal government on the introduction of a revenue transparency
framework for the mining and oil & gas sectors. In addition to supporting the government’s efforts, we
recommended that Canada’s regulations align with those of the U.S. and Europe. This would ensure a uniform
approach for extractive companies operating in different regions. Canada’s federal government has since
committed to developing a mandatory revenue transparency framework.

We are the only investor member of the
CDP Canada Advisory Council. Our efforts
have contributed to improved disclosure
and increased action. Most of Canada’s 200
biggest companies now report to CDP, and 49
per cent have an emissions target in place, up
from 20 per cent in 2006.
As a long-standing partner, bcIMC was
honoured to provide guest commentary
for the CDP Canada 200 Climate Change
Report 2013.
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RESPONSIBLE INVESTING

PRINCIPLE 4: PROMOTE ACCEPTANCE AND IMPLEMENTATION OF THE
PRINCIPLES WITHIN THE INVESTMENT INDUSTRY

Board of Directors in June 2013. Doug Pearce, bcIMC’s chief executive officer / chief
investment officer served as the CCGG Chair between 2006 and 2009.

bcIMC advocates for initiatives that strengthen the investment environment for
pension plans, enhance corporate practices, and integrate responsible investing
principles into regulatory frameworks.

We further industry awareness by participating in conferences; our activities included:

We rely on well-functioning capital markets and believe we can contribute to a
stable financial system. As an active participant, we address systemic risks with the
expectation that our efforts will improve market stability and integrity.
In 2013, bcIMC joined the PRI’s Policy and Research Committee for sustainable
financial systems. By consulting with signatories, the barriers to a sustainable
financial system were identified, with short-termism acknowledged as a critical
impediment. In collaboration with five Canadian pension funds, we also urged the
OECD to develop principles and guidelines to foster a favourable long-term investing
environment.
We continue to encourage policymakers to emphasize corporate governance and
shareholder accountability in their legal frameworks. Comments were provided to
Canadian, U.S., and Russian regulators on nine governance matters. Of note, we
requested that the Ontario Securities Commission (OSC) compel Canadian companies
to prepare gender diversity policies and establish targets within a three-year period.
We were encouraged when the OSC announced a draft rule in early 2014 requiring
companies to disclose gender policies and targets.
Our staff participate in organizations that promote responsible investing. bcIMC is
a founding member of the Canadian Coalition of Good Governance (CCGG). Bryan
Thomson, senior vice president, equity investments, was appointed to the CCGG’s
48
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EVENT

TOPIC

BC Pension Forum Conference
(March 2014)

Integration of ESG considerations into
investment processes

British Columbia Securities
Commission (March 2014)

Reform of proxy voting infrastructure

Canadian Investor Relations
Institute (March 2014)

Investors’ expectations of shareholder-director
engagement

CDP Workshop
(February 2014)

bcIMC’s support of the CDP and how investors
use the data

Kingsdale Shareholder Services
Conference (February 2014)

Investors’ expectations of issuers regarding
ESG standards

Social Investment Organization
Conference (June 2013)

The evolution of responsible investing in Canada
Executive compensation

Staff also serve on: the National Advisory Council for BOMA Canada; Board of
Directors for the Canadian Bond Investors’ Association; the CDP Advisory Council for
Canada; the Corporate Governance committee of the Pension Investment Association
of Canada; and REALpac’s Research and Corporate Responsibility & Sustainability
committees.

PRINCIPLE 5: COLLABORATION TO ENHANCE OUR EFFECTIVENESS
We collaborate with global and regional investor networks and like-minded stakeholders to exert greater influence.
Working with the PRI is a focus area; this year we joined PRI’s:
• General Partner Guide Working Group: As one of 50 international members, we helped develop a guide with
strategies and tools for integrating ESG factors into private equity. PRI launched the guide in April 2014.
• Hydraulic Fracturing Collaborative Engagement: We are one of 10 members of a global committee aiming
to improve disclosure of risks and the adoption of best practices. Engagement will begin in 2014; bcIMC will lead
the Canadian effort.
• Labour Standards in the Agricultural Supply Chain: We are among a group of 10 global investors assessing
corporate practices and reporting, as well as health and safety, and supply chain matters. Discussions were held
with 45 global food and beverage companies, retailers, and other entities exposed to labour risks and human
rights violations. We led the engagement on four Canadian and global companies.
bcIMC has been a member of the Investor Network on Climate Risk since 2008, and in 2013 we served on its integrated
reporting working group. We provided our perspective of the integration of financial and non-financial reporting.
We also collaborate with partners to deepen our knowledge. Our Mortgages group interacted with Bentall Kennedy
on integrating initiatives such as disaster resiliency, walk-scoring, and energy-star scoring into development appraisals.
PRINCIPLE 6: REPORT ON OUR ACTIVITIES AND PROGRESS
As our clients share our investment belief of responsible investing, we revisited our communications approach.
The introduction of a theme-based quarterly newsletter was among these initiatives – this document provides a
corporate-wide perspective of our activities over the long-term. Our clients continue to receive briefings on specific
initiatives, and we assist clients with their stakeholder communications.
Since 2004 we have disclosed our proxy voting activity and the reasons for each vote cast at shareholder meetings.
Initially reporting quarterly, we now prepare monthly reports to provide more timely disclosure.
The PRI revised its reporting and assessment framework in 2013. Although participation was not mandatory, we
chose to provide feedback on the PRI Reporting Pilot.
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COLLABORATION
IN ACTION
bcIMC joined forces with eight investors,
together representing $916 billion, to voice
concerns over Barrick Gold’s $11.9-million
bonus payment to its co-chair. Inconsistent
with the pay-for-performance principle, it
also set a troubling precedent for Canadian
capital markets. These views were conveyed
through a public statement and media
interviews prior to the company’s annual
general meeting in April 2013. We were
encouraged that the compensation structure
was rejected by 85 per cent of shareholders.
We also collaborated with 14 global
investors in highlighting concerns about the
Board’s independence and effectiveness.
bcIMC met privately with two independent
directors to communicate our views and
expectations regarding governance and
executive compensation.
We believe that these efforts contributed
to the revision of Barrick’s compensation
program and the retirements of its chair and
four longstanding directors.
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PILLAR FOUR | CLIENT SERVICES
We take pride in our culture of delivering client-focused service and we continue to
enhance our relationships with and commitment to clients

UNDERSTANDING CLIENT NEED Our clients have voluntarily entrusted us with
managing their funds. We are responsible for creating long-term client wealth and
protecting the value of their capital. Being aware of our clients’ needs begins with
understanding their return requirements, their appetite for risk, and their investment
beliefs. Trust is the foundation of client relationships; building trust involves more than
generating strong investment returns. We believe in developing long-term partnerships
and that each of our employees plays a role in exceeding client expectations.
IMPLEMENTING INVESTMENT STRATEGIES We finalized three asset liability
studies to support our clients in determining a strategic asset allocation policy
appropriate for achieving their return objectives. Recommendations included reducing
fixed income exposure and increasing the allocation to real assets and private markets.
Six major asset mix transitions were completed during the year to enable our clients to
move their funds to their new allocations.
As global markets continue to evolve, we adapt our product line to ensure that our
clients can benefit from new opportunities. Clients approved the introduction of the
All Weather Fund, an investment portfolio that balances the exposure to risk across
fundamental economic environments, and the restructuring of the international real
estate program into the Realpool Global Fund. These funds provide exposure to global
assets and have the potential of delivering strong risk-adjusted returns.
REVIEWING INVESTMENT RESULTS Our customized quarterly reports help
clients evaluate returns within the investment environment. We continued to enhance
our performance systems to provide more tailored reporting that aligns with our
clients’ global mandate.
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To assist with the growing demands and complexities of performance reporting,
particularly with private market assets, we added additional expertise in the area of
performance analysis and attribution.
MEETING CLIENT NEEDS AND INVESTMENT EDUCATION Meeting clients’
needs extends beyond putting their funds to work. Through bcIMC’s “know our
client” culture, we continually reinforce staff commitment to client service. Our
activities include conducting orientation sessions with new staff about our clients’
investment objectives and service expectations. We also encourage our investment
team to attend client meetings and interact with the trustees on matters relating to
the investment of their funds. As bcIMC assists clients with their communications to
key stakeholder groups, we broadened our outreach efforts to include plan partners
and plan members.
We work closely with trustees to expand their knowledge and understanding of
capital markets. The development of a fundamental investment literacy program was
a significant initiative for the year. The intention of this course, geared towards new
trustees, is to strengthen their knowledge of investment principles and concepts,
assisting them with their investment decision-making role.
We continue to deliver orientation sessions that provide new pension trustees with an
overview of each asset class, responsible investing, and related topics. Other events,
such as client forums and the annual two-day BC Public Sector Pension conference,
provide opportunities to discuss capital market trends. bcIMC coordinates one day of
the conference, and this year’s discussion topics included a geopolitical outlook and
natural resources. Clients gave this session the highest rating in eight years, scoring it
at 98 per cent.

LOOKING FORWARD bcIMC will continue to deliver a high level of client service with more than 130 client
meetings expected over the year. The introduction of the incoming chief executive officer / chief investment
officer to our clients will be a priority.
Assisting clients with strategic reviews of their asset mixes and supporting them with the assessment of
investment strategies is an ongoing priority. Streamlining and automating performance and client reporting
processes will continue to receive attention.

OUR GUIDING PRINCIPLES
KNOW OUR CLIENTS
AND UNDERSTAND THEIR
EVOLVING INVESTMENT GOALS

ESTABLISH POSITIVE CONNECTIONS TO
BUILD A FOUNDATION OF TRUST AND

LASTING PARTNERSHIPS

RESPECT THAT CLIENTS’ NEEDS EXTEND BEYOND PUTTING CAPITAL TO WORK
USE A TEAM-BASED APPROACH
TO PROVIDE AN INTEGRATED SERVICE
EXPERIENCE

CONTINUALLY STRIVE TO

ENHANCE OUR SERVICES

bcIMC’S CORPORATE VALUES OF RESPECT, INTEGRITY, HONESTY AND TRUST ARE THE
FOUNDATION OF OUR CULTURE
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THE YEAR IN REVIEW
• Hosted a second client forum on our
thematic investment program. A number
of clients participated in discussions about
the ongoing development of our approach,
strategic insights from our research
initiatives, and potential opportunities.
• Strengthened our support to clients in
responding to questions on responsible
investing. Activities included introducing
a theme-based quarterly newsletter,
preparing supporting factsheets, making
presentations to stakeholders, and assisting
clients with revisions of their statement of
investment policies and procedures.
• Supported a major pension plan client
with their initiative to assess the economic
footprint of their plan. We provided
information relating to specific investments
held within the pooled funds.
• Transitioned clients’ funds in accordance
with their revised strategic asset allocation
framework.
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PILLAR FIVE | BUILDING bcIMC
Our people, supported by proven technology, are the foundation of our success
and that of our clients

OUR PEOPLE – THE FOUNDATION FOR ONGOING EXCELLENCE bcIMC
attracts and retains some of the best investment management professionals. We are
a high-calibre and culturally diverse team of 199 people. We offer challenging work,
opportunities for career development, and remuneration that aligns staff performance
with corporate and client objectives.
With the ever-increasing sophistication of the capital markets and the rising complexity
of our clients’ mandates, we continue to expand and deepen our skill set. This involves
training and development, succession planning, and attracting new expertise.
Increasing Capacity and Knowledge: Our training program is designed to ensure
we have the skills to deliver our strategic objectives, to improve job-specific employee
performance, and to develop leadership skills ahead of succession needs. We delivered
180 person days of onsite training and provided funding for 63 employees to attend
job-specific workshops. With our focus on generating long-term client wealth, onsite
training included financial modelling, credit-related courses, and valuation best practices.
Other training included instructional skills, mandatory safety workshops, and advanced
technology to enhance technical functionality within today’s complex environment.
We continue to support staff pursuing professional designations such as Chartered
Alternative Investment Analyst, Chartered Financial Analyst, Chartered Professional
Accountant, and other certifications. Having an understanding of our industry and
capital markets is an important aspect of many functions and we encourage staff to
complete programs such as the Canadian Securities Course.
Succession Planning: Anticipating and planning for pending retirements is another
priority. We actively monitor our age profile and are aware that many of our colleagues
will become eligible for retirement by 2019. Our succession planning includes the
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assessment of talent and identification of staff with the potential to advance. Where
appropriate, we take action ahead of predicted departures to ensure the transfer of
corporate knowledge. Our ongoing leadership development and training initiatives
ensure that we mentor and prepare the leaders of tomorrow.
Succession planning for bcIMC’s executive is the responsibility of our Board of
Directors. Doug Pearce, bcIMC’s chief executive officer / chief investment officer
announced his intentions to retire. Our Board has managed the recruitment and
selection process in accordance with its comprehensive plan. Preparing for the
transition to a new chief executive officer / chief investment officer has been a priority
for bcIMC’s management.
Growing the Team: bcIMC’s human resource planning supports our strategic focus
of increasing our global exposure, broadening our real asset program, and expanding
our thematic approach.
Eight new positions were created this year. We enhanced our thematic research
capability, broadened the real estate development capabilities, strengthened our
shareholder engagement team, and added to our risk analysis expertise. As global
investing increases our operations complexity, we introduced in-house taxation and
regulatory compliance capabilities to support our activities.
The team will continue to expand to accommodate our clients’ investment objectives.
We intend to broaden our infrastructure and renewable resources team, and will also
be recruiting for bcIMC’s first foreign office. The opening of an office in London, U.K.,
scheduled for 2015, will enhance our global reach and access into one of the principal
business locations in the world.

OUR TECHNOLOGY – THE FOUNDATION OF OUR ACTIVITIES As an active and engaged investor, we
rely on scalable and flexible technology and use forward-looking data to manage risk and identify opportunities.
Globalization is changing businesses and capital markets are evolving. We are augmenting our technology to
enhance its ability to support our activities.
Implementation of the multi-year project to modernize our network and telecommunications infrastructure
continued. We successfully completed phase one with minimal disruption to our business. This provides bcIMC
with increased capacity, opportunities for technical innovation, operational flexibility, and enhanced security.
Planning for phase two, which involves integrating email and telecommunications infrastructure, was completed.
Implementation is planned for 2014.
Enhancing our ability to manage and analyze the escalating volume of data is a priority. We developed a business
case for enterprise data management and received Board approval to proceed with this multi-year project. Data
requirements were determined and preparations for the procurement of the underlying technology were finalized
in phase one. Subsequent phases focus on incorporating master data, the governance of data, and enhancing
reporting and analytical capabilities.
We continued to improve real estate data management and reporting. A new data warehouse has increased our
capacity to analyze property data, exposure, expenditures, and leasing information. It enables flexible reporting
and enhances the strategic oversight of this asset class.
Automating processes and upgrading applications continued. The introduction of integrated technology to
support the analysis of portfolio risk and the trading of fixed income securities has streamlined processes and
reduced costs. Application upgrades included the trade order management and compliance system.
Looking forward, we will continue to assess legacy systems and optimize business processes. Protecting our
systems against cyber attacks is an ongoing initiative that involves identifying technical solutions and enhancing
staff awareness. Constant improvement to the network and infrastructure will ensure the performance and
reliability required to support our business.
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EXPANDING OUR
OFFICE SPACE
bcIMC is growing our team to enable us
to meet our clients’ investment objectives
and to accommodate the demands and
increasing complexity of managing a
global portfolio.

Jawl Properties, our landlord, is developing
a mixed-use building that includes office
space to accommodate our planned growth.
The project is targeting LEED Gold for New
Construction certification including the
building shell and all interior fitouts. As the
tenant, bcIMC is responsible for the interior
design and internal improvements that
adhere to the targeted LEED credits. We have
considered sustainability factors throughout
our process and decisions. Construction on
the site adjacent to our existing offices began
in 2012. The additional office space will be
available for lease in 2015. Preparations for
the move into the new space will begin in
2014. Renovations to our existing building are
expected to start in 2015.
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bcIMC’S CORPORATE CULTURE Our corporate values are the foundation of our
culture: respect, integrity, honesty, and trust. We strive for a client-focused, outcomedriven, inclusive, team-oriented, engaged, and nimble environment.
We put our clients first; the work that we do contributes to securing the retirement
plans of the more than 522,000 pensioners of today and tomorrow. As this is our
responsibility, we take a conservative and thoughtful approach to generating longterm client wealth while also protecting the value of their funds.
Our staff are active members of bodies including the CFA Institute, Institute of
Corporate Directors, CPA Canada, Pension Investment Association of Canada,
International Society of Employee Benefits, Pacific Pension Institute, and Canadian
Association for Business Economics.
Our employees are also community-minded and have supported United Way of Greater
Victoria for 18 years. bcIMC is a gold level sponsor and staff raised over $82,600 in
2013. We are proud to know that our contributions will help to improve lives and
strengthen communities in the Greater Victoria area. Staff support charities such
as Burnside Gorge Community Association, Blanshard Community Association, and
Dress for Success. The annual Christmas hamper program, food hampers, and in-office
recycling programs are some of the ways in which our colleagues raise funds for local
charities. Staff participate in the Canadian Blood Services Partner for Life program.
INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS bcIMC’s corporate
financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards (IFRS) since 2011–2012. Our pooled fund financial statements
will transition to IFRS in 2014. We have collaborated with our auditors in preparing
for this transition. Management and our Board are confident in our preparations. The
financial statements for bcIMC’s pooled funds are available on our website.
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REASONABLE OPERATING COSTS We are accountable to clients for the costs of
investing their funds. bcIMC operates on a cost-recovery model and is not subsidized
by any third party. We adopt a culture of reasonable cost and avoid unnecessary
expenses that could adversely affect returns. Managing $110.4 billion 1 and pooling
assets provide economies of scale. The in-house management of 60.0 per cent 1 of the
assets also offers cost advantages.
Operating costs for 2013–2014 were $220.7 million or 21.2 cents per $100 of average
assets under management for the year, compared to $201.1 million or 21.3 cents
per $100 in 2012–2013.1 With the $10.8 billion growth in net assets resulting from
strong investment returns, overall costs increased. However, as the growth rate in
costs was less than the growth rate in assets, costs per $100 of average assets under
management were consistent with the previous year. bcIMC continues to deliver valueadded investment services at a reasonable cost.
REDUCING OUR CARBON FOOTPRINT bcIMC is committed to be carbon
neutral and energy efficient in our internal operations. We established a baseline in
2010 of our energy consumption, business travel, paper usage, and in-office waste.
Our ongoing initiatives to reduce our footprint include virtual computing, electronic
document management, and following industry practices of replacing computers every
three years with energy-efficient technology. Smaller electronic items are recycled,
while old equipment is sold to local organizations for reuse.
During the year we expanded the use of virtual server technology and in so doing,
have reduced the number of physical servers thus reducing power consumption. This
activity further contributes to our pledge.
We purchase carbon credits to offset emissions that we cannot eliminate. Our annual
report is also made carbon neutral by purchasing carbon credits.
1

Calculated on a net asset basis

COMPANY MANAGEMENT EVALUATION real estate asset management

economic analysis/forecasting DEMOGRAPHIC ANALYSIS
NEGOTIATION PORTFOLIO CONSTRUCTION CASH FLOW ANALYSIS

relationship management
CONTRACT ANALYSIS

GLOBAL AWARENESS

market expertise

algorithmic trading STATISTICAL ANALYSIS

LIFE CYCLE COSTING

CREDIT ANALYSIS asset valuation ANALYTICAL THINKING
OPERATING COSTS OF

21.2 CENTS

PER $100 OF AVERAGE AUM 1

1

Calculated on a net asset basis

199 EMPLOYEES
AVERAGE TENURE

6.9 YEARS

382 YEARS OF COMBINED

INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY
EXPERIENCE / AVERAGE OF
20 YEARS PER PROFESSIONAL
EMPLOYEE GENDER DIVERSITY

54.3%
MALE

45.7%
FEMALE

SENIOR EXECUTIVE TEAM: 42.9% FEMALE
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THE YEAR IN REVIEW
• Added eight positions, enhancing the
breadth and depth in our thematic
investing program, risk analysis, and
investment support functions.
• Promoted 10 employees, demonstrating
our commitment to “growing our own”
talent.
• Successfully implemented the first phase
of our multi-year initiative to modernize
our information technology network and
telecommunications infrastructure.
• Developed and implemented the foreign
exchange trade order management system
allowing for the automation of processes
and the potential of realizing annual
savings of $600,000 in custodian fees.
• Changed the year-ends of 16 pooled fund
investment portfolio funds from March 31
to December 31, allowing for streamlining
and efficiencies within our investment
accounting and reporting processes.
• Implemented electronic backups for the
physical and virtual server environment.
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RICK MAHLER Vancouver, British Columbia

OUR BOARD
OF DIRECTORS

Now retired, Rick was Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
of Finning International for 13 years. He is a director of Ten Peaks Coffee
and served as Chair of Partnerships BC and Chair of Sterling Shoes. Rick’s
volunteer activities include serving as Chair of the Co-op Advisory Council
at both Simon Fraser University and the University of Waterloo; Chair of
the VGH & UBC Hospital Foundation; and Vice-Chair of the Vancouver
Board of Trade. He is the recipient of awards including the Queen’s Golden
Jubilee Medal for Distinguished Service. Rick holds a B.Sc. from the
University of Waterloo and an MBA (Finance) from McMaster University.

COMPOSITION OF THE BOARD The Public Sector Pension
Plans Act (the Act) requires our Board to have seven directors as
follows:

bcIMC Board
and Committee Appointments

Director since December 31, 2010
Current term to December 31, 2015
Appointed by B.C.’s Minister of Finance
Independent

• One director appointed by the College Pension Board from
among its members
• One director appointed by the Municipal Pension Board from
among its members

bcIMC Director Remuneration
2013–2014

• One director appointed by the Public Service Pension Board
from among its members
Other Board Directorships/Trusteeships
During the Last Five Years

• One director appointed by the Teachers’ Pension Board from
among its members
• Two directors, representative of other clients, appointed by
B.C.’s Minister of Finance; and

Our largest clients, accounting for 82.7 per cent of bcIMC’s
managed net assets, are represented on the Board.
BOARD INDEPENDENCE All directors and the Board Chair are
non-executive directors and independent of management.
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Chair, bcIMC Board of Directors (2011–present)

14/14

100%

Guest, Corporate Human Resources and Board
Governance Committee

1/1

100%

Annual
Retainer

Board
Meeting Fee

$30,000

$6,000 1

Term

Committee Committee
Chair Fee Meeting Fee

–

Committee
Appointments

$1,500

Total

$51,375 2

Board Chair
Positions & Term

Partnerships BC

2003–2010

–

Y 2003–2010

Sterling Shoes Inc.

2005–2013

Audit Committee

Y 2005–2013

Human Resources
Committee

• One other director appointed by B.C.’s Minister of Finance and
designated to be the Chair of the Board.
These nominating bodies are aware of our criteria relating to
the knowledge, experience, and skill set we look for in bcIMC
directors. These criteria are disclosed on our website.

2013–2014
Attendance

1
2

Ten Peaks Coffee Co.

2004–present

Audit Committee (Chair)

N –

VGH & UBC Hospital Foundation

2003–2011

Audit Committee (Chair)

Y 2007–2010

Includes guest attendance at director orientation session
Includes remuneration for involvement with the process of recruiting bcIMC’s CEO/CIO

JOAN AXFORD Victoria, British Columbia

DENNIS BLATCHFORD Vancouver, British Columbia

Now retired, Joan was Secretary-Treasurer for School District No. 63 (Saanich).
Her 28-year involvement in public education included work with school
districts and the Ministry of Education. Joan served as President of the BC
Association of School Business Officials from 2002 to 2003, and as Chair of
the Teachers’ Pension Plan from 2010 to 2011. She is the 2005 recipient of
the Larry Ozero Leadership Award for leadership in school district corporate
and business administration. Joan is a professional accountant, holds a CMA
designation, and was awarded the designation of Fellow of the Society of
Management Accountants of Canada in 2012.

Dennis is a founding member of the Municipal Pension Board of Trustees
and chaired its Governance Committee from 2008 to 2011. He is currently
the Pension and Benefits Advocate for the Health Sciences Association of
British Columbia. Previously Dennis was a director for the BC Federation
of Labour and worked in the areas of health policy reform, human rights
legislation, disability advocacy, and community relations. From 1998 to
2004, he was a trustee of the Canadian Blood Services Pension Plan.

bcIMC Board
and Committee Appointments

Director since November 1, 1999
Current term to December 31, 2014
Appointed by the Teachers’ Pension
Board of Trustees
Independent
bcIMC Director Remuneration
2013–2014

Other Board Directorships/Trusteeships
During the Last Five Years

2013–2014
Attendance

Director, bcIMC Board of Directors
Chair, Corporate Human Resources and Board
Governance Committee (2002–present)
Member, Audit Committee (2000–2002)
Annual
Retainer

Board
Meeting Fee

$15,000

$6,000 1

Term

Beacon Community Services

2012–present

Teachers’ Pension Plan (Trustee)

1999–present

14/14

100%

3/3

100%

–

–

Committee Committee
Chair Fee Meeting Fee

$5,000

Committee
Appointments

Finance and Audit
Committee (Vice Chair)

$2,250

Total

$34,250 2

Board Chair
Positions & Term

N –

Human Resources Committee

1
2

Benefits & Communications
Committee (Chair)

Includes guest attendance at director orientation session
Includes remuneration for involvement with the process of recruiting bcIMC’s CEO/CIO
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Y 2010–2011

bcIMC Board
and Committee Appointments

Director since March 28, 2012
Current term to December 31, 2015
Appointed by the Municipal Pension
Board of Trustees
Independent

2013–2014
Attendance

Director, bcIMC Board of Directors
Member, Corporate Human Resources and Board
Governance Committee (2012–present)

bcIMC Director Remuneration
2013–2014

Annual
Retainer

Board
Meeting Fee

40 per cent of total remuneration is paid to the
Health Sciences Association of British Columbia 1

$15,000

$4,500

Other Board Directorships/Trusteeships
During the Last Five Years

Term

–

3/3

100%

Committee
Appointments

$2,250

Total

$27,000 2

Board Chair
Positions & Term

2001–present

Governance Committee
(Chair)

N –

Shareholder Association for Research
and Education

2010–present

Planning Committee

N –

2

86%

Committee Committee
Chair Fee Meeting Fee

Municipal Pension Plan (Trustee)

1

12/14

$16,200 was paid to Dennis Blatchford as an individual
Includes remuneration for involvement with the process of recruiting bcIMC’s CEO/CIO
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RON McEACHERN North Saanich, British Columbia

DOMINIQUE ROELANTS Nanaimo, British Columbia

Ron has worked in human resources and labour relations for more than
30 years. Prior to retiring in 2005, he was an Associate Deputy Minister of
Employee Relations in the BC Public Service Agency. Ron holds a B.Sc. from
the University of Victoria and has completed several certificate courses with
International Foundation of Employee Benefit Plans in the Advanced Trustee
Management Standards Program.

Dominique has taught for the Department of Computing Science at Vancouver
Island University for more than 30 years. He has served on the Pension
Advisory Committee of the Federation of Post-Secondary Educators of BC
since 1998 and has held the position of First Vice-President since 2012.
Dominique holds a B.Sc. in Computer Sciences and Mathematics from the
University of Calgary, and an M.Sc. and a PhD in Computing Science from
the University of Victoria. He holds a Bachelor of Laws from the University
of Victoria and was called to the B.C. Bar in 2005. He holds a B.Sc. in
Psychology, a BA and an MA in Sociology, all from the University of Victoria.

bcIMC Board
and Committee Appointments

Director since April 1, 2007
Current term to March 31, 2016
Appointed by the Public Service Pension
Board of Trustees
Independent

bcIMC Director Remuneration
2013–2014

Other Board Directorships/Trusteeships
During the Last Five Years

2013–2014
Attendance

Director, bcIMC Board of Directors

14/14

100%

Member, Corporate Human Resources and Board
Governance Committee (2007–present)

3/3

100%

Guest, Audit Committee

1/1

100%

Annual
Retainer

Board
Meeting Fee

Committee
Chair Fee

Committee
Meeting Fee

Total

$15,000

$5,250

–

$3,000

$29,250 1

Term

Committee
Appointments

Board Chair
Positions & Term

British Columbia Pension Corporation

2008–2011

Human Resources Committee N –
(Chair)

Public Service Pension Board (Trustee)

2002–present

Benefits Committee
Communications Committee
Governance Committee

Y 2011–present

–

Y 2004–present

Ron E. McEachern & Associates Ltd.
1

2004–present

bcIMC Board
and Committee Appointments

Director since September 1, 2013
Current term to August 31, 2016
Appointed by the College Pension Board
of Trustees
Independent

bcIMC Director Remuneration
2013–2014

2013–2014
Attendance

Director, bcIMC Board of Directors

11/12

92%

Member, Audit Committee (2013–present)

2/2

100%

Guest, Corporate Human Resources and Board
Governance Committee

2/2

100%

Annual
Retainer

Board
Meeting Fee

Remuneration is paid to the Federation of
Post-Secondary Educators of BC

$8,750

$5,250 1

Other Board Directorships/Trusteeships
During the Last Five Years

Term

College Pension Plan (Trustee)

2001–present

Committee Committee
Chair Fee Meeting Fee

–

Committee
Appointments

–

$3,000

Y 2012–2013
2010–2011
2008–2009

Federation of Post-Secondary Educators of BC 1998–present

Pension Advisory Committee

N –

Island Savings Credit Union

Compensation Committee

N –

2008–present

Conduct Review Committee
(Past member)
Governance Committee

Includes remuneration for involvement with the process of recruiting bcIMC’s CEO/CIO

Nominations Committee
(Past member)
Vancouver Island University Board of
Governors

2011–2012

Vancouver Island University Faculty
Association

1998–present

Facilities Committee

1
2

N –

Finance Committee
Contract Negotiating
Committee (Chair)
Personnel Stewards
Committee (Past Chair)
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$22,250 2

Board Chair
Positions & Term

Investment and Lending
Committee (Chair)
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Total

Includes director orientation session
Includes remuneration for involvement with the process of recruiting bcIMC’s CEO/CIO

N –

KEN WOODS Vancouver, British Columbia

CHERYL YAREMKO Vancouver, British Columbia

Ken has been involved in the investment industry for more than 25 years
and has significant experience as a pension plan fiduciary. He serves on
WorkSafeBC’s Investment Committee as an independent voting member
and is President of Coolwoods Investments Ltd. Ken is an active member
of the community and served on the VGH & UBC Hospital Foundation. He
is currently involved with the Department of Athletics at the University
of British Columbia and the St. Paul’s Sinus Centre. Ken is a Fellowship
Chartered Accountant. He holds a Bachelor of Mathematics from the
University of British Columbia and an MBA from Concordia University.

Cheryl is BC Hydro’s Executive Vice-President Finance & Chief Financial
Officer. Before joining BC Hydro, Cheryl was the Chief Financial Officer for
BC Railway Company. She currently serves on the board of UBC Investment
Management Trust and the National Board of Financial Executives
International Canada. Cheryl has served on the boards of InTransit BC,
Ballet BC, and the British Columbia Chapter of Financial Executives
International. Cheryl is a Chartered Accountant and has a B.Com (Honours)
with a Major in Finance from the University of British Columbia.

bcIMC Board
and Committee Appointments

Director since July 5, 2011
Current term to December 31, 2016
Appointed by B.C.’s Minister of Finance
Independent

2013–2014
Attendance

Director, bcIMC Board of Directors

14/14

100%

Chair, Audit Committee (2012–present)

4/4

100%

Guest, Corporate Human Resources and Board
Governance Committee

2/2

100%

–

–

Member, Audit Committee (2011–2012)
bcIMC Director Remuneration
2013–2014

Annual
Retainer

Board
Meeting Fee

$15,000

$6,000 1

Other Board Directorships/Trusteeships
During the Last Five Years

Term

Committee Committee
Chair Fee Meeting Fee

$5,000

$4,500

Committee
Appointments

Total

bcIMC Board
and Committee Appointments

Director since December 31, 2012
Current term to December 31, 2015
Appointed by B.C.’s Minister of Finance
Independent

bcIMC Director Remuneration
2013–2014

$36,500 2

Board Chair
Positions & Term

Other Board Directorships/Trusteeships
During the Last Five Years

2013–2014
Attendance

Director, bcIMC Board of Directors

12/14

86%

Member, Audit Committee

4/4

100%

Guest, Corporate Human Resources and Board
Governance Committee

1/1

100%

Annual
Retainer

Board
Meeting Fee

$15,000

$5,250

Term

Committee Committee
Chair Fee Meeting Fee

–

Committee
Appointments

$3,750

2012–present

Strategic Planning

N

–

Ballet BC

2003–2011

Treasurer (2006–2011)

N –

Children’s Arts Umbrella Foundation

2004–2013

Investment Committee

Y

2004–2011

2010–2012

Events Committee

N –

Concordia University Foundation

2000–2009

Investment Committee

N

–

Financial Executives International
(BC Chapter)

1998–present
Kenneth Woods Portfolio Management
Foundation, John Molson School of Business,
Concordia University

Client Committee

Y

1998–present
(Founder)

Financial Executives International Canada
(National Board)

2013–present

Audit Committee

N –

InTransit BC

2009–2012

–

N –

RBC Canadian Open

2011

Host Club Tournament Chair Y

2011

UBC Investment Management Trust Inc.

2010–present

2012–2013
2002–2009

Investment Committee
Various committees

–

Audit Committee (Chair)
Investment Committee

N –

VGH & UBC Hospital Foundation

1
2

Includes guest attendance at director orientation session
Includes remuneration for involvement with the process of recruiting bcIMC’s CEO/CIO
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1

$28,500 1

Board Chair
Positions & Term

BC Golf House Society

N

Total

Includes remuneration for involvement with the process of recruiting bcIMC’s CEO/CIO
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OUR CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
The Board of Directors is committed to demonstrating high governance standards in the
oversight of bcIMC’s operations and accountability to clients

GOVERNANCE FRAMEWORK bcIMC was established by the Public Sector
Pension Plans Act (the Act) in 1999. The Board oversees bcIMC’s operations,
reviews and monitors the CEO/CIO’s performance, and ensures proper reporting
and accountability to our clients. The Board is also required to approve pooled fund
investment policies, to select and establish the remuneration of our CEO/CIO and
auditors, to approve the strategic business plan and annual budget, and to establish
an employee classification system and compensation scale.
The bcIMC Board Mandate clarifies the Board’s duties and responsibilities and
is available on the bcIMC website. During this year’s biannual review, the Board
determined that the mandate should acknowledge that assessing compliance with the
Act is part of the CEO/CIO’s performance evaluation.
Investment professionals under the supervision of the CEO/CIO make all investment
decisions within the framework of the policies approved by the Board and established
by bcIMC’s clients.
ROLE AND ACCOUNTABILITY OF THE CHIEF INVESTMENT OFFICER
The Act defines the chief investment officer as the chief executive officer with
responsibility for day-to-day operations. The CEO/CIO is accountable to the Board for
the efficiency and effectiveness of bcIMC in carrying out its mandate. The CEO/CIO
is also responsible to each client regarding its individual investment policy, asset mix
policy, and performance.
Among other responsibilities, the CEO/CIO hires staff and external managers,
prepares the annual strategic business plan and budget, and establishes policies and
procedures to meet operational objectives. The CEO/CIO ensures that risk and returns
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are managed in a prudent and appropriate fashion consistent with client instructions
and recommends changes in investment strategies to clients.
BOARD ACTIVITY AND COMMITTEES The Board meets on a quarterly basis.
Meetings are scheduled in advance. Additional meetings are arranged when issues
arise that require immediate board attention. The Board has two standing committees:
• The Audit Committee, consisting of three directors, meets at least three times a year and
oversees the audit programs, financial management controls, and financial reporting.
• The Corporate Human Resources and Board Governance Committee (HRGC),
consisting of three directors, meets at least twice a year and reviews human resource
strategies, compensation philosophy, succession management, performance
incentive plans, employee classification systems, and board governance.
The CEO/CIO attends all board and committee meetings (although the CEO/CIO
cannot be a director).
DIRECTOR ATTENDANCE The Board met on 14 occasions, the Audit Committee on
four, and the HRGC on three. One orientation session was held for an incoming director.
Directors who are not members of a committee may observe those meetings and may
also attend director orientations. The Board convened additional meetings relating to the
recruitment of bcIMC’s CEO/CIO.
There was 100 per cent attendance for most of the meetings held in 2013–2014. Details
for individual directors are included in their profiles on pages 56 to 59. John Wilson,
whose term ended in August 2013, attended all board and audit committee meetings.
He also attended one meeting of the HRGC as a guest.

DIRECTOR ORIENTATION PROGRAM The CEO/CIO and senior management lead the orientation. New
directors are briefed on the Board’s role and responsibilities, our strategic business plan, budget, human
resource policies, and risk management programs. The Board Recovery Plan and details on key operational
functions are also addressed.
BOARD EVALUATION AND ASSESSMENT Each year the directors complete a self-evaluation process
that assesses the effectiveness of the Board in key areas and elicits suggestions for improvement. The Board
discusses the results and identifies areas that require additional or new emphasis. The Chair of the HRGC
administers the process.
DIRECTOR REMUNERATION The Act provides that bcIMC may pay directors remuneration for their service
on the Board and its Committees that is consistent with the Province of British Columbia’s Treasury Board
guidelines. If a director receives remuneration from their employer for board or committee service, such fees are
paid to their employer. Remuneration levels are as follows.
POSITION

ANNUAL RETAINER

PER DIEM

Board Chair

$30,000

$750

Director

$15,000

$750

Audit Committee Chair

$5,000

$750

HRGC Chair

$5,000

$750

–

$750

Committee Member

DIRECTOR CODE OF CONDUCT The Code
of Conduct (available on our website) outlines
the minimum standard of conduct. Directors
must make timely disclosure of direct or indirect
interest, material or not, in any proposed or
completed bcIMC contract, transaction, or
investment. Directors must also abstain from
voting on matters in which they have a personal
interest. The HRGC reviews this Code every
two years.
CONTINUING DIRECTOR EDUCATION
bcIMC budgets an amount to enable directors
to benefit from courses and conferences offered
by third parties. Guest speakers may also attend
board meetings.
Dire c tor s are resp onsible for s ele c ting
educational opportunities. We encourage them
to enrol in professional development courses and
participate in industry-related seminars.

When board meetings take place over two days, a per diem is paid for each day. In instances where a committee
and board meeting are held on the same day, a per diem is paid for each meeting.
Total remuneration for the Board was $238,375 in 2013–2014 (2012–2013: $228,500). Details for individual
directors are included in their profiles. John Wilson was paid $9,250 of which $2,000 was paid to him as an individual.
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COMPENSATION DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
Generating the returns our clients rely on requires specialized skills in understanding global capital
markets and investment management

bcIMC recruits and seeks to retain talented and motivated staff with the skills and
expertise to provide leadership in a complex investment environment. As we compete
with our Canadian peers for the required expertise, bcIMC offers rewarding work
opportunities, supports continued professional development, and pays competitive
base salaries.
We are responsible for generating long-term client wealth while also protecting the
value of our clients’ funds. We are accountable to our clients for investment returns
and the costs involved in managing their funds. We operate on a cost-recovery model,
and investment management fees are charged to the investment pools and clients.
HRGC MANDATE The Corporate Human Resources and Board Governance
Committee (HRGC) assists the Board in ensuring that bcIMC retains a highly effective
team and that human resource practices continue to align employee performance with
client expectations. The HRGC monitors and makes recommendations to the Board on
the following matters:
• trends and external market practices for compensation, benefits, and terms and
conditions of employment
• bcIMC’s job classification system and compensation scale
• comparators and competitive positioning of compensation
• salary and performance assessment of the CEO/CIO
• bcIMC’s performance incentive plans
• oversight of risks associated with human resources activities
• employee Code of Conduct provisions
• bcIMC’s succession planning
• professional development and training strategies
• new human resources strategies and supporting policies
• self-evaluation plans of the Board and its committees
• best practices and trends in board governance.
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The HRGC consists of three directors, appointed by the Board, with diverse
backgrounds and experience in business and human resources matters. Members are
independent of management. Joan Axford is the chair; Dennis Blatchford and Ron
McEachern are committee members. The other directors may also attend committee
meetings as guests. The CEO/CIO and senior vice president, human resources attend
the meetings.
The HRGC meets at least twice a year. In 2013–2014, the committee met on three
occasions, which included three in camera sessions.
COMPENSATION PHILOSOPHY AND STRUCTURE The Board’s compensation
philosophy is to pay median base salary levels complemented by performance incentive
plans designed to align staff interests with our clients’ return requirements (while
discouraging undue risk-taking) and with bcIMC’s strategic business objectives.
Our compensation structure includes a base salary, benefits, and performance-based
remuneration through an annual incentive plan (AIP) and a long-term incentive plan
(LTIP) for senior roles. As a statutory corporation with one share with a par value of
$10, bcIMC does not issue share options to our staff.
Base Salary: The Board’s philosophy to pay median salaries guides the salary
decisions of the positions classified within bcIMC’s three job streams. The comparator
group for investment management roles consists of the large in-house Canadian public
pension funds. For non-investment roles, the comparator group is expanded to include
relevant public and private sector employers within western Canada, including the
British Columbia public sector.

Beneﬁts: Employment benefits include bcIMC-funded health and welfare coverage
such as medical, extended health, dental, health spending account, and life insurance
coverage. bcIMC pays employer contributions on behalf of our staff to the Public
Service Pension Plan and legislated benefits such as Canada Pension Plan, Employment
Insurance, and Workers’ Compensation. A short-term illness and injury plan and a longterm disability plan protect permanent staff against significant wage loss.
Annual Incentive Plan: All permanent employees are eligible to participate in the AIP.
The plan aligns employee performance with the achievement of client-driven investment
and business objectives. AIP payments are calculated as a percentage of base salary,
weighted to reflect the role and impact the position has on corporate results.
A portion of the AIP payment is derived from the annual investment performance with
a greater component determined by the investment return performance over a fouryear period. The remainder of the payment reflects individual and team achievement of
other business and bcIMC-wide objectives relating to client services, risk management,
responsible investing, and building bcIMC.
Three value drivers are used to rate performance:
Driver 1: Total Fund Performance – overall investment performance measured against
industry or client-approved benchmarks. The value-added component is assessed net
of investment management costs. This driver is intended to align overall investment
performance with client expectations and to promote corporate collaboration.
Driver 2: Business Unit Performance – the department’s role in delivering investment
returns and contributing to business objectives and long-term strategies. This is
intended to direct employees’ efforts to achieving strategic business plan objectives and
to promoting business unit teamwork.
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Driver 3: Individual Contribution – the individual’s performance measured against
the competencies relevant to their role. This is intended to encourage and reward
high performance.
Disbursement of payments under the AIP occurs in the fiscal year after it is earned.
To show the alignment between the AIP payment and performance, the Summary
Compensation Table (on page 66) reports AIP in the year it was earned.
Long-Term Incentive Plan: This plan is designed to enhance the retention of senior
staff with the skills and experience that will enable bcIMC’s long-term success.
LTIP provides the opportunity to earn additional remuneration based on investment
return performance (net of costs) over a four-year period. This is accomplished by linking
a portion of the personal remuneration to bcIMC’s long-term total fund investment
performance. If bcIMC fails to generate value-added investment returns in a year, the
annual credit is assessed at zero. This zero-weighting affects LTIP payments for four
years. Similarly, value-added performance generates a payment that is earned over a
four-year period.
There is a vesting requirement before the first payment is disbursed to the eligible staff
member. Payments begin once an employee has contributed to bcIMC’s performance
in each of the four years. Should an employee resign, all vested deferred credits are
forfeited. On retirement, the full vested deferred value is disbursed in a single payment.
As with the AIP, the actual payment occurs in the following fiscal year. The Summary
Compensation Table (on page 66) reports LTIP in the year it became payable and shows
the alignment between the LTIP payment and performance.
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COMPENSATION CONSULTANTS AND EXTERNAL SOURCES bcIMC’s
compensation philosophy and structure is regularly reviewed. Base salaries are
assessed each year to ensure alignment with the compensation philosophy. Relevant
data from Towers Watson’s compensation surveys inform the HRGC’s decisions on
annual compensation.
In-depth reviews are conducted every three years, with 2013–2014 being the most
recent. The Board retained Hugessen Consulting Inc. to provide an overview of
compensation trends among a representative group of institutional investment funds
within Canada since 2010–2011. The Board also contracted Towers Watson to compare
bcIMC’s positions with benchmark positions used for compensation purposes.
Based on these reviews, the Board concluded that the compensation philosophy and
structure was suitable for bcIMC.
PERFORMANCE ASSESSMENT FOR 2013–2014 bcIMC’s gross assets under
management increased by $11.2 billion, ending the fiscal year with $114.0 billion.
Combined pension plan returns, net of fees, exceeded our clients’ return expectations
by 2.2 percentage points – the one-year annual return was 14.7 per cent compared
to a combined market benchmark of 12.5 per cent. As a result, bcIMC’s investment
activities generated $1.7 billion in added value for our pension clients. The valueadded performance is calculated as the clients’ total portfolio return net of investment
management fees and minus the benchmark return.
The tactical decision in 2013 to overweight our clients’ funds towards global equities,
while underweighting the exposure to fixed income, was the primary driver of bcIMC’s
value-added performance. Infrastructure, renewable resources, and global real estate
also delivered strong returns above their respective benchmarks. bcIMC and our clients
have increased their weightings in recent years towards real asset classes, and these
asset allocations continue to influence investment returns.
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Generating investment returns that exceed industry or client-approved benchmarks
is an essential component of assessing bcIMC’s performance. The achievement of
company-wide objectives and the implementation of strategic initiatives aligned with
the key components of our business are also considered.
bcIMC’s strategic business plan, which is approved by the Board, outlines the company’s
non-financial goals and strategic initiatives. Departmental objectives for each fiscal
year are aligned with the strategic business plan. The Board regularly reviews the
company’s progress towards accomplishing these goals. Performance for 2013–2014
was evaluated as follows:
STRATEGIC BUSINESS
PLAN PILLAR

KEY OBJECTIVE

ACTUAL
PERFORMANCE

PILLAR ONE:
Investment
Returns

Generate long-term client wealth, meet our clients’
investment objectives, and protect their capital

Generated
$1.7 billion in
value-added
returns for bcIMC’s
pension clients

PILLAR TWO:
Risk Management

Continually identify and manage enterprise-wide risks
that could affect investment outcomes and impact
operational efficiency

Achieved

PILLAR THREE:
Responsible
Investing

Continue to integrate environmental, social, and
governance issues into our investment analysis and
decision-making processes, as well as our culture

Achieved

PILLAR FOUR:
Client Services

Continue to provide exemplary service to our clients
by creating a culture of service and exceeding our
clients’ return and service expectations, ensuring we
remain their manager of choice

Achieved

PILLAR FIVE:
Building bcIMC

Build a culture of long-term client wealth creation that
is supported by a forward-looking and global mindset

Achieved

LONG-TERM INCENTIVE PLAN CREDITS AND PAYMENTS Over the April 2010
to March 2014 period, bcIMC’s investment performance added value in each of the four
years. The above benchmark performance in 2013–2014 generated a credit of 25.0 per
cent, with 25.0 per cent being the maximum instalment weighting towards a future longterm incentive plan grant. The value-added performance (calculated as the clients’ total
portfolio return net of investment management fees and minus the benchmark return)
and the credits for each of the years in the four-year period are shown in the table below.
As the value-added performance was delivered in each of the four years, LTIP payments
for 2013–2014 reflect 96.7 per cent of the maximum opportunity.
YEAR

bcIMC’s VALUE-ADDED PERFORMANCE
($)

ACTUAL CREDIT
(%)

2010–2011

$0.7 billion

23.9

2011–2012

$1.4 billion

23.8

2012–2013

$1.5 billion

24.0

2013–2014

$1.7 billion

25.0

TOTAL
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96.7

EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION The total compensation of the five most highly
remunerated officers for 2013–2014, with comparable amounts for 2012–2013 and
2011–2012, is disclosed in the Summary Compensation Table on page 66.
The AIP and LTIP payments for the chief executive officer / chief investment officer and
the other named executive officers reflect the investment performance that exceeded our
clients’ combined market benchmark and generated $1.7 billion in additional value, net
of costs. These payments also recognize their department’s contribution to the returns
and other business objectives, and their individual contribution. Total compensation
for bcIMC’s named executive officers was $5.8 million in 2013–2014 ($5.3 million in
2012–2013).
Total cost of salaries and benefits for our entire staff complement was $46.1 million in
2013–2014 (4.4 cents per $100 of average assets under management) compared to
$40.6 million in 2012–2013 (4.3 cents per $100 of average assets under management).
This year-over-year change reflects the increase in performance-based pay resulting from
adding $1.7 billion in value and the growth in bcIMC’s staff complement. The continued
growth of our team supports bcIMC’s strategic initiatives to enhance the exposure of
our clients’ funds to global markets, focus on real assets, and increase the percentage of
funds managed internally.
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SUMMARY COMPENSATION TABLE
NAME AND PRINCIPAL POSITION

Doug Pearce
Chief Executive Officer /
Chief Investment Officer
Lincoln Webb
Senior Vice President,
Private Placements
Bryan Thomson
Senior Vice President,
Equity Investments
Paul Flanagan
Senior Vice President,
Fixed Income
Dean Atkins
Senior Vice President,
Mortgages
1
2
3
4
5

6
7
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ANNUAL
INCENTIVE

LONG-TERM
INCENTIVE PLAN

PENSION
CONTRIBUTIONS

BASE SALARY

2013–2014

$528,188

$726,710

$423,524

$45,927

$81,996

$1,806,345

2012–2013

$513,239

$650,831

$291,024

$57,687

$69,345

$1,582,126

2011–2012

$484,736

$517,939

$167,424

$52,867

$57,820

$1,280,786

2013–2014

$343,821

$460,886

$278,704

$39,218

$75,679

$1,198,308

2012–2013

$333,606

$411,994

$192,454

$38,053

$59,764

$1,035,871

2011–2012

$324,600

$351,304

$112,114

$35,736

$43,023

$866,777

2013–2014

$303,957

$362,249

$245,023

$34,861

$44,277

$990,367

2012–2013

$292,547

$309,758

$168,773

$33,565

$43,116

$847,759

2011–2012

$289,264

$251,790

$98,321

$32,014

$31,058

$702,447

2013–2014

$278,818

$332,025

$222,978

$32,113

$41,903

$907,837

2012–2013

$272,017

$304,090

$153,034

$31,092

$35,985

$796,218

2011–2012

$258,196

$247,388

$87,526

$28,743

$32,734

$654,587

2013–2014

$264,094

$353,318

$211,411

$30,503

$44,834

$904,160

2012–2013

$251,487

$309,255

$145,161

$29,077

$37,987

$772,967

2011–2012

$248,034

$253,773

$84,597

$27,628

$32,697

$646,729

1

2

3

4

OTHER BENEFITS

TOTAL
COMPENSATION

YEAR

5

6&7

Base salaries are guided by the Board’s compensation philosophy to pay market median among other large pension fund managers in Canada.
The values of incentive payments are listed beside the performance year in which it is earned; actual disbursement occurs in the following fiscal year.
The incentive plan value reflects performance over a four-year timeframe; actual disbursement occurs in the following fiscal year.
These values represent the contributions paid by bcIMC on behalf of the named individuals to the Public Service Pension Plan and the Canada Pension Plan.
These values include bcIMC-funded group health and welfare benefits and illness wage-loss provisions, parking, and contributions paid by bcIMC on behalf of the named individuals for legislated benefits such as Employment Insurance and
Workers’ Compensation. A payout of unused vacation entitlement may also be included in this value.
Values in this table constitute the total compensation earned by or paid on behalf of the identified individuals. All values are inclusive.
The salary and pension amounts for 2011–2012 have been restated to reflect 27 pay periods.
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A

B

Seeking opportunities for
direct, sizable, long-term
investments of patient
capital in real assets
C

D

A TimberWest Forest Corp., the largest private
timber and land management company in Western
Canada – we ﬁrst invested in 2009 by purchasing
convertible debentures and took the company
private in 2011 in partnership with PSP Investments
B Fairwinds, a prime residential development

F

on Vancouver Island, British Columbia with over
700 homes and homesites as well as 700 acres of
developable land – acquired in 1999
C Arteris S.A., largest private toll road operator in
Brazil – an infrastructure asset held since 2012
D Transelec S.A., Chile’s largest electricity transmission
company – a regulated utility held since 2006
E Fairﬁeld Inn & Suites, St. John’s, Newfoundland, the
full redevelopment of this site and the construction
of a new 148-room hotel was completed in 2013 by

E

SilverBirch Hotels & Resorts
F Southcore Financial Centre, Toronto, Ontario,
our ﬁrst large-scale mixed-use development of 1.8
million sq. ft. over three buildings – a four-star
Delta hotel (to open in 2014) and two class-A ofﬁce
towers (2012 and late 2014)
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MANAGEMENT’S RESPONSIBILITY FOR FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

301 – 2940 Jutland Road
Victoria BC, V8T 5K6

Responsibility for the integrity and objectivity of the accompanying consolidated financial statements of the British Columbia
Investment Management Corporation (“the Corporation”) rests with management. The consolidated financial statements, which by
necessity include some amounts that are based on management’s best estimates and judgments, are prepared in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards. In management’s opinion, the consolidated financial statements have been properly
prepared within the framework of the significant accounting policies summarized in the consolidated financial statements and present
fairly the Corporation’s financial position, results of operations and cash flows.
Systems of internal control and supporting procedures are maintained to provide reasonable assurance that transactions are
authorized, assets are safeguarded and proper records maintained. The internal accounting control process includes management’s
communication to employees of the Corporation of policies that govern ethical business conduct.
The Board of Directors oversees management’s responsibilities for financial reporting through an Audit Committee, which is
comprised entirely of independent directors. The Audit Committee reviews the consolidated financial statements of the Corporation
and recommends them to the Board for approval. The consolidated financial statements have been reviewed and approved by the
Corporation’s Board of Directors.
KPMG LLP, an independent auditor, has performed an audit of the consolidated financial statements, and its report follows. KPMG
LLP has full and unrestricted access to the Audit Committee to discuss their audit and related findings.

Doug Pearce

David Woodward

Chief Executive Officer /
Chief Investment Officer

Senior Vice President, Finance

June 26, 2014
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

To the Shareholder of British Columbia Investment Management Corporation
We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of British
Columbia Investment Management Corporation, which comprise the consolidated
statements of financial position as at March 31, 2014, the consolidated statements of
income and comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash flows for the year then
ended, and notes comprising a summary of significant accounting policies and other
explanatory information.
MANAGEMENT’S RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these
consolidated financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to
enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements
based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally
accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that we comply with ethical
requirements and plan and perform an audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts
and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected
depend on our judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement
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of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those
risk assessments, we consider internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair
presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness
of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
presentation of the consolidated financial statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our audit opinion.
OPINION
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material
respects, the consolidated financial position of British Columbia Investment Management
Corporation as at March 31, 2014, and its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards.

Chartered Accountants
June 26, 2014
Vancouver, Canada
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BRITISH COLUMBIA INVESTMENT MANAGEMENT CORPORATION

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION
(Expressed in thousands of Canadian dollars)
As at March 31, 2014, with comparative information for 2013

Note

2014

2013

4

25,264
36,963
1,486

19,564
32,635
1,105

63,713

53,304

2,199

1,140

65,912

54,444

29,303
19,063

25,655
16,562

48,366

42,217

9,211
57,577

7,201
49,418

Shareholder’s equity:
General reserve
Retained earnings

2,541
5,794

2,687
2,339

Total equity

8,335

5,026

65,912

54,444

Assets
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Trade and other receivables
Prepaid expenses

5

Total current assets
Property, plant and equipment

6

Total assets
Liabilities and Shareholder’s Equity
Current liabilities:
Trade and other payables
Current employee benefits

7
8

Total current liabilities
Long-term employee benefits
Total liabilities

10

Total liabilities and shareholder’s equity
Operating leases (note 11), Contingencies (note 12)

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements

Approved on behalf of the Board:
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Director

Director

BRITISH COLUMBIA INVESTMENT MANAGEMENT CORPORATION

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME AND COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
(Expressed in thousands of Canadian dollars)
Year ended March 31, 2014, with comparative information for 2013

Note

2014

2013

13

159,842
63,867
295

146,636
55,047
263

224,004

201,946

159,842
46,121
10,611
4,121

146,636
40,634
8,971
4,865

220,695

201,106

3,309

840

Revenues
Recoveries of direct costs
Funds management fees
Investment income

14

Expenses
Direct costs
Salaries and benefits
General and administrative
Other

13
9, 15
9, 16
17

Net income and comprehensive income
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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BRITISH COLUMBIA INVESTMENT MANAGEMENT CORPORATION

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
(Expressed in thousands of Canadian dollars)
Year ended March 31, 2014, with comparative information for 2013

General reserve

Total equity

Balance as at March 31, 2012
Transfer to (from) general reserve
Comprehensive income

2,691
(4)
–

1,495
4
840

4,186
–
840

Balance as at March 31, 2013
Transfer to (from) general reserve
Comprehensive income

2,687
(146)
–

2,339
146
3,309

5,026
–
3,309

Balance as at March 31, 2014

2,541

5,794

8,335

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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Retained earnings
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BRITISH COLUMBIA INVESTMENT MANAGEMENT CORPORATION

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(Expressed in thousands of Canadian dollars)
Year ended March 31, 2014, with comparative information for 2013

Note

2014

2013

3,309

840

454

305

3,763

1,145

(4,363)
(381)
6,149

(2,684)
(252)
4,958

2,010

1,551

7,178

4,718

Investments:
Property, plant and equipment additions

(1,513)

(879)

Increase in cash and cash equivalents

5,665

3,839

19,564

15,721

35

4

25,264

19,564

256
25,008

520
19,044

25,264

19,564

Cash ﬂows provided by (used in)
Operations:
Comprehensive income (loss)
Items not involving cash:
Depreciation
Changes in non-cash items:
Trade receivables
Prepaid expenses
Current liabilities
Long-term employee benefits
Net cash provided by operating activities

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year
Effects of movements in exchange rates on cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year
Cash and cash equivalents are comprised of
Cash in bank
Short-term money market instruments

4

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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BRITISH COLUMBIA INVESTMENT MANAGEMENT CORPORATION

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Tabular amounts expressed in thousands of Canadian dollars)
Year ended March 31, 2014

1. REPORTING ENTITY
The British Columbia Investment Management Corporation (the Corporation)
is a statutory corporation incorporated under section 16 of the Public Sector
Pension Plans Act, SBC 1999 c44 (the Act) domiciled in Canada. The address of
the Corporation’s office is Sawmill Point, 2940 Jutland Road, Victoria, BC. The
consolidated financial statements of the Corporation include the Corporation
and its subsidiaries.
In accordance with the Act, the Corporation invests the money or securities
of various public sector pension funds, the Province of British Columbia,
provincial government bodies (Crown corporations and institutions) and
publicly-administered trust funds.
The estimated market value of assets managed by the Corporation as of March
31, 2014 was $110 billion (2013 – $100 billion). Of that, approximately $91
billion (2013 – $80 billion) is invested on behalf of pension funds and $19 billion
(2013 – $20 billion) on behalf of various publicly-administered trust funds and
clients. These assets are held by bcIMC as agent for investment for its clients
and may consist of units in one or more pooled investment portfolios whose
assets are managed and held by the Corporation as trustee. The Corporation
annually prepares separate audited financial statements for each pooled
investment portfolio with more than one unitholder. Neither assets held by the
Corporation as trustee of the pooled investment portfolios nor assets held by
the Corporation as agent for investment for its clients are consolidated in the
financial statements of the Corporation.
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2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
(a) Statement of compliance
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and were authorized
for issue by the Board of Directors on June 26, 2014.
(b) Basis of measurement
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical
cost basis except long-term employee benefits which are measured at the
present value of the expected future benefit.
(c) Functional and presentation currency
These consolidated financial statements are presented in Canadian dollars,
which is the Corporation’s functional currency. All financial information
presented has been rounded to the nearest thousand dollars, unless
otherwise indicated.
(d) Use of estimates and judgments
The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in conformity with
IFRS requires management to make judgments, estimates and assumptions
that affect the application of accounting policies and the reported amounts
of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. Actual results may differ from
these estimates.
Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis.
Revisions to accounting estimates are recognized in the period in which the
estimates are revised and in any future periods affected.

BRITISH COLUMBIA INVESTMENT MANAGEMENT CORPORATION

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Tabular amounts expressed in thousands of Canadian dollars)
Year ended March 31, 2014

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all
periods presented in these consolidated financial statements.
(a) Basis of consolidation
Subsidiaries are consolidated in the Corporation’s financial statements, from
the date that control commences until the date that control ceases.
The Corporation consolidates entities when all three of the following
characteristics are present:
•

Where the Corporation exerts power over the relevant activities of the
entity. Power exists if the Corporation has decision making authority
over those activities that significantly influence the entity’s returns.

•

Where the Corporation has exposure or rights to variability of returns of
the entity. Exposure exists if the Corporation’s returns vary as a result of
the performance of the entity.

•

Where there exists a linkage between power and returns as described
above. A linkage exists when the Corporation can use its power over
the activities of the entity to generate returns for itself.

In the normal course of operations, the Corporation utilizes subsidiary and
structured entities to facilitate the management of investment assets:
(i) Subsidiary entities:
The Corporation establishes subsidiary entities as part of its investment
strategy. In all cases, the Corporation holds 100 per cent of the voting
shares of these subsidiary entities. The Corporation has power over the
relevant activities of these entities, is exposed to variability in returns from
these entities, and uses its power to generate these returns. Accordingly,
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these entities are consolidated into the Corporation. However in all
cases, these subsidiaries earn nominal income that is not material to the
operations of the Corporation.
(ii) Structured entities:
In the normal course of its operations, the Corporation establishes
various structured entities, such as pooled investment portfolios and
their subsidiary entities, through its role as investment manager.
The Corporation’s control over these entities is established either by
regulation, or ownership of voting shares, or both. The Corporation has
power over the relevant activities of the structured entities, however, in all
cases, the Corporation has no exposure or rights to variability of returns
in these structured entities. Accordingly, these entities do not meet the
criteria for control and are not consolidated.
(b) Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include money market funds which are readily
convertible to cash.
(c) Financial instruments
The Corporation initially recognizes loans and receivables and other
liabilities on the date that they are originated. All other financial assets
(including any assets designated at fair value through profit or loss) are
recognized initially on the trade date at which the Corporation becomes a
party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.
The Corporation derecognizes a financial asset when the contractual rights
to the cash flows from the asset expire, or it transfers the rights to receive
the contractual cash flows on the financial asset in a transaction in which
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substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset
are transferred. Any interest in transferred financial assets that is created
or retained by the Corporation is recognized as a separate asset or liability.
The Corporation derecognizes a financial liability when its contractual
obligations are discharged, cancelled or expire.
The Corporation classifies its non-derivative financial instruments
as follows:
(i) Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are financial assets with fixed or determinable
payments that are not quoted in an active market. Such assets are
recognized initially at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction
costs. Subsequent to initial recognition loans and receivables are
measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method, less
any impairment losses. The Corporation’s financial assets designated as
loans and receivables are comprised of cash and cash equivalents and
trade and other receivables.
(ii) Other liabilities
Other liabilities are recognized initially at fair value, net of transaction
costs. Subsequently, other liabilities are measured at amortized cost
using the effective interest method. The Corporation’s financial
liabilities designated as other liabilities are comprised of trade and
other payables.
(d) Property, plant and equipment
(i) Measurement
Items of property, plant and equipment are measured at cost less
accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses.
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Cost includes expenditures that are directly attributable to the acquisition
of the asset.
Gains and losses on disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment
are determined by comparing the proceeds from disposal with the
carrying amount of property, plant and equipment, and are recognized
within net income.
(ii) Depreciation
Depreciation is calculated over the depreciable amount, which is the cost
of an asset, or other amount substituted for cost, less its residual value.
Depreciation is recognized in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over
the estimated useful lives of each part of an item of property, plant
and equipment, since this most closely reflects the expected pattern of
consumption of the future economic benefits embodied in the asset.
Leasehold improvements are amortized on a straight-line basis over the
remaining life of the lease term.
The estimated useful lives for the current and comparative periods are
as follows:
Furniture and equipment
Computers and related software

10 years
5 years

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at
each financial year end and adjusted if appropriate.
(e) Share capital
The capital of the Corporation is one share with a par value of ten dollars
and is classified as equity. The share is issued to and registered in the name
of the Minister of Finance and must be held by that Minister on behalf of the
Government of British Columbia.
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(f) Reserve
The Corporation maintains a general reserve for future expenditures which
may be appropriated from retained earnings at the discretion of the Board
of Directors. The Board has authorized access to the general reserve for the
purposes of certain employee compensation payments and for errors and
omissions payments.
The Corporation must recover its operating costs and capital expenditures.
The Corporation’s Board of Directors may approve recoveries greater than
costs and expenditures to maintain or increase the Corporation’s retained
earnings and general reserve.
(g) Revenue
The Corporation’s revenues comprise operating costs and capital expenditures
that are recovered from: amounts charged to pooled investment portfolios
and client accounts for operating costs and capital expenditures necessarily
incurred by the Corporation on behalf of the pooled investment portfolios
and segregated assets it manages; amounts charged to clients for services
provided to those clients by the Corporation; and income accruing from
investments made by the Corporation on its own behalf.
(i) Direct costs recoveries and funds management fees:
Amounts charged to the pooled investment portfolios and clients are
accrued as the related costs and expenditures are incurred and as the
services are provided. Fees are charged at a level that the Corporation
estimates will allow it to recover all cash outlays and accrued expenses,
including capital expenditures, and maintain or increase retained
earnings and general reserves.
(ii) Investment income:

(h) Employee beneﬁts
(i) Defined benefit plans
The Corporation and its employees contribute to the Public Service
Pension Plan (the Plan) which is a multi-employer defined benefit
pension plan in accordance with the Act. The British Columbia Pension
Corporation administers the Plan, including payment of pension
benefits to employees to whom the Act applies. Due to insufficient
information relating to the Corporation’s share of the Plan’s assets and
liabilities, the Corporation accounts for the Plan as if it were a defined
contribution plan. The Corporation’s annual cost is represented by
contributions required for the respective year.
The Plan operates under joint trusteeship between the employers and
the Plan members, who share in the risks and rewards associated
with the Plan’s unfunded liability or surplus. The most recent actuarial
valuation as of March 31, 2011 indicated that the Plan was 98 per cent
funded, as a result, effective April 1, 2012 each of the employee and
employer pension contribution rates increased by 0.4 per cent of salary.
(ii) Long-term incentive plan
The Corporation provides a retention incentive to employees in senior
staff positions through a long-term incentive plan (LTIP). Eligible staff
are entitled to their first LTIP payment in their fourth year of employment
with the Corporation. LTIP is accrued for eligible employees at an
amount equal to one quarter of the estimated aggregate pay-out for
the current year and each of the following three years. The estimated
payments relating to current and previous years, that will be paid out in
years beyond the next fiscal year are recorded as a long-term liability.

Investment income is recorded on an accrual basis and includes interest
income on cash and cash equivalents.
bcIMC ANNUAL REPORT 2013–2014 | Corporate Financial Statements

77

BRITISH COLUMBIA INVESTMENT MANAGEMENT CORPORATION

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Tabular amounts expressed in thousands of Canadian dollars)
Year ended March 31, 2014

(iii) Long service retiring allowance
Employees hired prior to October 31, 2007 are entitled to a long
service retiring allowance (LSRA) as provided for under their terms of
employment. As employees render the services necessary to earn the
benefit, the Corporation estimates and accrues the future obligation for
retiring allowances.
(i) Leased assets
(i) Classification
The Corporation does not have any leases classified as finance leases
where it assumes substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership.
The Corporation has operating leases and they are not recognized in
the statement of financial position.
(ii) Lease payments
Payments made under operating leases are recognized in net income
on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease.
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(j) Taxation
As a corporation whose only share is owned by Her Majesty in right of a
province, the Corporation is exempt from federal income taxes. As an agent
of the government of British Columbia, the Corporation is not liable to
British Columbia taxation except as the government of British Columbia is
liable for British Columbia taxation.
(k) Adoption of new standards and accounting policies:
IFRS 13: Fair Value Measurement:
IFRS 13 is effective for all periods beginning on or after January 1, 2013.
In accordance with the transitional provisions, IFRS 13 has been applied
prospectively from April 1, 2013, which is the Company’s effective date of
adoption for this standard. As a result, the Company has adopted a new
definition of fair value which measures the fair value of an asset or liability
based on assumptions that market participants would use under current
market conditions, including assumptions about risks. The adoption of IFRS 13
had no impact on the measurement or disclosure of the Company’s assets and
liabilities at April 1, 2013.
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4. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
2014
Cash
Cash equivalents

2013
Cash
Cash equivalents

Canadian

U.S.

Total

228
24,883

28
125

256
25,008

25,111

153

25,264

Canadian

U.S.

Total

499
19,019

21
25

520
19,044

19,518

46

19,564

Cash equivalents consist of units in pooled investment portfolios managed by the Corporation, specifically the Canadian Money Market Fund ST2 and the
U.S. Money Market Fund ST3. U.S. dollar investments are translated at the year-end foreign currency exchange rate.
5. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

Pooled fund receivables
Fees receivables
Other receivables
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2014

2013

29,669
6,295
999

25,156
5,884
1,595

36,963

32,635
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6. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Furniture
and equipment

Computers and
related software

Leasehold
improvements
and interests

Total

Balance as at April 1, 2012
Assets acquired

583
6

1,468
727

1,664
146

3,715
879

Balance as at March 31, 2013
Assets acquired

589
35

2,195
827

1,810
651

4,594
1,513

Balance as at March 31, 2014

624

3,022

2,461

6,107

Balance as at April 1, 2012
Depreciation for the year

411
28

1,360
92

1,378
185

3,149
305

Balance as at March 31, 2013
Depreciation for the year

439
31

1,452
262

1,563
161

3,454
454

Balance as at March 31, 2014

470

1,714

1,724

3,908

150
154

743
1,308

247
737

1,140
2,199

Cost

Accumulated Depreciation

Carrying Amounts
As at March 31, 2013
As at March 31, 2014

Included in assets acquired for Leasehold improvements and interests for the year ended March 31, 2014, are costs of $616,000 in relation to a new
corporate office under construction for which depreciation has not yet commenced.
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7. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

Direct cost payable
Trade accounts payable

2014

2013

25,943
3,360

22,931
2,724

29,303

25,655

2014

2013

1,196
17,508
359

1,035
15,104
423

19,063

16,562

8. CURRENT EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

Regular employee benefits
Annual incentive plan/LTIP
LSRA
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9. RELATED PARTIES
The Corporation is related to all Province of British Columbia ministries, agencies and Crown corporations through common ownership. Transactions with these
entities are in the normal course of operations and are recorded at the exchange amounts.
A portion of the Corporation’s expenses are paid to related parties. These amounts, which are included in general and administrative expenses, are
as follows:

Systems operations
Office and business

2014

2013

466
140

466
165

606

631

2014

2013

43
–

68
13

43

81

2014

2013

1,719
2,235
288
1,382
183

1,648
1,936
257
1,252
188

5,807

5,281

Related party transactions included in trade and other payables are as follows:

Systems operations
Office and business

Key management personnel compensation:

Base salary
Annual incentive
Other short-term benefits
Long-term incentive plan
Post employment benefits – pension contributions
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10. LONG TERM EMPLOYEE BENEFITS
2014
Accrued employee obligations
Less short-term portion included in
Current employee benefits
Long-term employee benefits obligations
2013

LTIP

LSRA

Total

12,187

1,207

13,394

3,824

359

4,183

8,363

848

9,211

LTIP

LSRA

Total

Accrued employee obligations
Less short-term portion included in
Current employee benefits

9,823

1,170

10,993

3,369

423

3,792

Long-term employee benefits obligations

6,454

747

7,201

11. OPERATING LEASES
The Corporation leases premises under various operating leases which expire in 2015 and 2017, subject to various renewal options contained within the lease
agreements. In addition, the Corporation has entered into a new lease agreement for premises with an approximate commencement date of February 1, 2015.
Minimum lease payments based on current and new lease agreements in effect as at the periods below are as follows:

Less than 1 year
Between 1 and 5 years
More than 5 years
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2014

2013

1,639
11,229
16,502

1,387
9,886
19,325

29,370

30,598
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12. CONTINGENCIES
As a crown agent pursuant to its enabling legislation, bcIMC is immune from taxation under the Excise Tax Act, in respect of supplies to its pooled investment
portfolios. In 2009, bcIMC was advised that Canada was in discussions with the Province regarding the application of goods and services tax and/or harmonized
sales tax (HST/GST) to costs recovered by bcIMC from assets held by bcIMC in pooled investment portfolios. That discussion has been ongoing for the past
five years with minimal progress. As a consequence, in December 2013 bcIMC filed a petition in the Supreme Court of British Columbia seeking a declaration
confirming its crown immunity in respect of HST/GST relating to costs recovered from assets held in pooled investment portfolios. Management is of the opinion
that the Court will not deny bcIMC the ability to rely on its statutory crown immunity. However, if the Supreme Court determines that supplies to bcIMC’s pooled
investment portfolios are taxable under the Excise Tax Act, bcIMC estimates the cumulative HST/GST owing for the period from April 1, 2010 to March 31, 2014
to be in the range of $40,000,000 to $50,000,000. This amount would then be recoverable from the pools.
13. REVENUES
Costs related to providing funds management services on behalf of pooled investment portfolios or clients’ segregated investments are recovered directly
from those entities and clients. These direct costs are shown as expenses, and the recovery of these costs as revenue, in the Consolidated Statements of
Income and Comprehensive Income.
The breakdown of direct costs as reported in the Consolidated Statements of Income and Comprehensive Income is as follows:
Direct Costs
Investment
Custodial
Legal, audit, other

2014

2013

144,293
9,214
6,335

133,979
8,556
4,101

159,842

146,636

2014

2013

3
292

4
259

295

263

14. INVESTMENT INCOME

Interest
Money market
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15. SALARY AND BENEFITS

Salaries
Benefits
Annual Incentive Plan
Long-Term Incentive Plan

2014

2013

22,770
4,119
13,498
5,734

20,346
3,784
11,642
4,862

46,121

40,634

2014

2013

760
2,287
125
947

644
2,067
143
930

4,119

3,784

2014

2013

6,553
1,924
1,466
668

5,507
1,427
1,379
658

10,611

8,971

Benefits are comprised of:

Medical and dental
Pension
Retirement allowance
Insurance and others

16. GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE COSTS

Systems operations (note 9)
Office and business (note 9)
Rent
Insurance
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17. OTHER EXPENSES

Professional services
Recruitment and training
Board costs
Depreciation
Errors and omissions

2014

2013

2,705
536
280
454
146

3,550
653
353
305
4

4,121

4,865

18. FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
The fair value of the Corporation’s financial instruments which includes cash and cash equivalents, trade and other receivables, trade and other payables,
and current employee benefits approximates its carrying value due to the short-term to maturity of these instruments.
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19. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
Due to the Corporation’s role as fund manager for the pooled investment
portfolios and the highly liquid nature of the Corporation’s cash equivalents,
management does not believe the Corporation is exposed to significant
credit risk.

In the ordinary course of operations, the Corporation may be exposed to risk
arising from its financial instruments as follows:
(a) Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Corporation if a counterparty
to a financial instrument fails to meet its contractual obligations, and
arises principally from the Corporation’s cash equivalents and trade and
other receivables.

(b) Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Corporation will not be able to meet
its financial obligations as they fall due. The Corporation operates on a
cost recovery basis and recovers all of its expenses through the pooled
investment portfolios and segregated client accounts it manages.
Accordingly, management does not believe the Corporation is exposed to
significant liquidity risk.

The Corporation’s cash equivalents consist of units in money market investment
portfolios managed by the Corporation. The trade and other receivables relate
primarily to fees and receivables from pooled investment portfolios managed by
the Corporation and are generally short-term in nature.

The following table shows the contractual maturities of the Corporation’s liabilities as at March 31, 2014:
March 31, 2014
Trade and other payables
Regular employee benefits
Annual incentive plan/LTIP
LSRA

March 31, 2013
Trade and other payables
Regular employee benefits
Annual incentive plan/LTIP
LSRA

Within 1 year

1 to 5 years

5 to 10 years

Over 10 years

Total

29,303
1,196
17,508
359

–
–
8,363
205

–
–
–
262

–
–
–
381

29,303
1,196
25,871
1,207

48,366

8,568

262

381

57,577

25,655
1,035
15,104
423

–
–
6,454
217

–
–
–
201

–
–
–
329

25,655
1,035
21,558
1,170

42,217

6,671

201

329

49,418
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(c) Currency risk
Currency risk is the risk that the Corporation’s financial instruments will
fluctuate in value from changes in value of foreign currencies in relation to
the Canadian dollar. The Corporation does not hold significant net financial
assets or have significant net financial obligations denominated in each
currency other than Canadian dollars. Accordingly, management does not
believe the Corporation is exposed to significant currency risk.
(d) Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk refers to the effect on the fair value or future cash flows of
financial instruments due to fluctuation in both long-term and short-term
nominal and real interest rates. The Corporation’s cash equivalents are in
units of money market investment portfolios that are interest rate sensitive,
however the underlying financial instruments re-price on a frequent basis.
Other financial assets and liabilities have a short term to maturity. As
investment earnings are not material, management does not believe the
Corporation is exposed to significant interest rate risk.
(e) Other price risk
Other price risk is the risk that the fair value of the Corporation’s financial
instruments will fluctuate because of changes in market prices, other than
those arising from currency risk or interest rate risk. Management does not
believe the Corporation’s financial instruments are exposed to significant
other price risk.
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20. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT
The Corporation’s capital consists of general reserve and retained earnings.
The Corporation operates on a cost recovery basis. From time to time, the
Corporation’s Board of Directors may approve recoveries greater than costs to
maintain or increase the Corporation’s retained earnings and general reserve.
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ALLOCATING LONG-TERM CAPITAL – A NEW APPROACH
We are developing a practical methodology for strategically allocating funds to enhance long-term client wealth.
Global capital markets are increasingly complex and present new opportunities and risks. We are revisiting conventional
thinking and developing strategies for the new landscape.
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ENVIRONMENTAL BENEFITS STATEMENT
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recycled content. The stock is manufactured with renewable, non-polluting, wind-generated electricity, and is sourced from
certified suppliers that support the growth of responsible forest management. By using this environmentally friendly paper,
bcIMC has saved the following resources:
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greenhouse gases

energy

fully grown

litres

kilograms

kilograms

million BTU’s
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1,156
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Environmental impact estimates were made using the Environmental Paper Network Calculator.
For more information visit http://calculator.environmentalpaper.org

Printed by Hemlock Printers Ltd. In addition to being named
the Most Environmentally Progressive Printer in Canada for
six successive years, Hemlock Printers has the distinction of being the
first printing company in Canada to achieve carbon neutral status.
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GLOBAL FOCUS REAL ASSETS
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protecting clients’ wealth

long-term wealth creation

Design:

Print:

Photography: Dave Aharonian
Additional photographs provided by Arteris S.A., Bentall Kennedy, Cinven Partners LLP, Corix Infrastructure Inc., GWL Realty Advisors, Holiday Retirement
Canada, InTransit BC, Jimmy Wu (page 67, Southcore Financial Centre), Open Grid Europe GmbH, Remington Development Corporation, Shutterstock Inc.,
Silverbirch Hotels & Resorts, TimberWest Forest Corp., Transelec S.A., Urbancorp Downsview, Park Development Inc., Ziggo

We welcome your comments and suggestions on our annual report.
Please contact: Gwen-Ann Chittenden
Manager, Corporate Initiatives
Tel: 778.410.7310

e-mail: communications@bcimc.com

301 – 2940 Jutland Road
Victoria, BC V8T 5K6
TELEPHONE
E-MAIL
WEB

778.410.7310

communications@bcimc.com

ALLOCATING LONG-TERM CAPITAL
A NEW APPROACH

www.bcimc.com

This annual report has been made carbon neutral by Zerofootprint. Printed within a
carbon neutral facility, the carbon emissions from paper manufacturing, transport,
and disposal were offset with investments in ISO-compliant forestry projects.
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